Stochastic extremal problems and the strong Markov property of random fields

I.V. Evstigneev

CONTENTS

Introduction		1
§1.	Stochastic models	5
§2.	The strong Markov property. Splitting random elements	8
§3.	Extremal problems and splitting random sets	12
§4.	Constructions of splitting elements based on the solution of extremal problems	19
§5.	Random change of variables	24
§6.	The strong Markov property of random fields on a Euclidean space	27
§7.	Constructions of splitting domains	35
§8.	Survey of examples and applications	37
References		47

Introduction

1. This paper introduces the reader to a new section of the theory of Markov fields in which we investigate problems concerned with the notion of the strong Markov property of a random field. This property of a field is formulated in a similar way to the Markov property, but in terms of random rather then deterministic subsets of Euclidean space. It is investigated by means of probabilistic methods and the methods of extremal problems.

In the paper we prove a theorem on the characterization of random domains with respect to which a given field has the strong Markov property. We describe ways of constructing such random domains based on solutions of extremal problems. In the framework of some general models we consider transformations of the type of a "random change of time" which preserve the Markov property. We discuss various examples and applications.

We note that the idea of the strong Markov property is well known for stochastic processes (see [1], [2]). Here it is extended to random fields.

2. Various questions concerning Markov fields have attracted attention for over twenty years (see, for example, [3] - [8]). An important stimulus to the development of this subject was the discovery of its connections with fundamental mathematical problems of quantum theory (see [4], [5]).

At the present moment one apparently cannot distinguish one "standard" definition of Markov fields: for different purposes different versions of this notion are considered. We follow, in general, the approach developed in [3] (although we use slightly different terms). We now formulate the definition of Markov field adopted here, omitting some details; for a completely accurate presentation see §6.3.

We denote by $T(\mathbb{R}^d)$ the class of all compact subsets t of Euclidean space \mathbb{R}^d that coincide with the closures of their interiors: t = cl int t. We briefly call these sets domains (see [3]). Let a random field, that is, an ordinary or generalized random function, be given on \mathbb{R}^d . We say that the given field has the Markov property with respect to some domain $t \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ if for any $a \subseteq t \subseteq b$, $a, b \in T(\mathbb{R}^d)$, the realization of the field on b and its realization on \tilde{a} ($\tilde{a} = cl a^c$ —the closure of the complement of a) are conditionally independent given its realization on $\tilde{a} \cap b$. We call a field Markov if this condition is satisfied for all $t \in T(\mathbb{R}^d)$.

We note that the concept of the realization of a field on some closed set $v \subseteq R^d$ includes the values of the field on the set v and on the infinitesimal neighbourhood of v (we have in mind the intersection of the corresponding σ -algebras over all e-neighbourhoods of v, see §6.1).

In this connection, we also remark that in the particular case a = t = bthe above definition leads to a version of the Markov property described in terms of the infinitesimal neighbourhood of the boundary $\partial t = t \cap \tilde{t} = b \cap \tilde{a}$ compare [4]-[7].

3. The idea of studying the strong Markov property of random fields arose in the mid-seventies. However, some analogues of this property were used earlier in implicit form in discrete models of statistical physics for the investigation of phase transitions (see, for example, [9] and the references therein). As an independent notion it was introduced in [10], [11] for the study of random fields on a Euclidean space.

The idea of the main definition is as follows. We say that a random field on \mathbb{R}^d has the strong Markov property with respect to a random domain⁽¹⁾ $\tau \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$ if for any random domains $\alpha \subseteq \tau \subseteq \beta$ the realization of the field on β and its realization on $\tilde{\alpha}$ (= cl α^c) are conditionally independent given its realization on $\tilde{\alpha} \cap \beta$.

The precise formulation will be given later; here we just mention two additional points. Firstly, in the definition given above we should consider only domains α and β depending on τ in a measurable way in some sense. Secondly, information about the behaviour of a field on the random sets β , $\tilde{\alpha}$, and $\tilde{\alpha} \cap \beta$ should be furnished with information about the random domains α and β themselves.

⁽¹⁾By a random domain we mean a measurable map of a probability space into a space of domains $T(\mathbb{R}^d)$ equipped with some natural measurable structure.

Among the problems concerned with the strong Markov property the central role is played by the following question. Let us consider a field on R^d that is Markov with respect to some class of deterministic domains. How do we characterize the class of random domains with respect to which the field has the strong Markov property?

The answer to this question is provided by the following result. A Markov field has the strong Markov property with respect to a random domain τ if and only if τ has the following property:

(S) For arbitrary (non-random) domains $a \subseteq b$ and a measurable set D from the space of domains, the event

$$\Delta = \{\tau \in D, \ a \subseteq \tau \subseteq b\}$$

should be representable in the form

$$\Delta = \Gamma_1 \cap \Gamma_2 \pmod{0},$$

where the event Γ_1 is determined by the realization of the field on b, and the event Γ_2 by the realization of the field on the closure of the complement of a (see Theorem 6.1).

Random domains τ satisfying the condition (S) will be called splitting. They are related to splitting times known in the theory of stochastic processes, see [12]-[15].

4. The result presented above reduces the study of the strong Markov property to the study of the condition (S), and so the investigation of splitting random domains becomes the focus of our attention. First of all we would like to learn how to construct such random domains effectively. The key to the answer to this question is the following consideration. It turns out that splitting random domains can be obtained as solutions of some stochastic extremal problems related to the given field. We have in mind extremal problems where a functional and the constraints are random and depend on the realization of the field. Thus, for example, minimizing the integral of the field over a domain (or over its boundary) from a suitable class of domains we obtain as a solution of this minimization problem a splitting random domain.

An analogous fact can be established in a considerably more general context. Namely, for the validity of the results of the kind described above it is necessary, first of all, that the random functional of the domain is consistent with the field and additive (or, more generally, submodular—see §7). The class of domains in which we seek the minimum of the functional should be a lattice⁽¹⁾ in the sense of a natural partial ordering of domains: $t \leq s \Leftrightarrow t \subseteq s$.

⁽¹⁾A partially ordered set is called a lattice if together with any two elements it contains also their least upper and greatest lower bounds.

A special case of the construction described above is the known construction of splitting time as a minimum point of a stochastic process, see [12]-[15].

Thus, the necessary conditions for an extremum in the problems under consideration acquire a clear probability meaning: extremality implies the splitting condition and strong Markov property. This circumstance not only plays an important role in this paper but also indicates some interesting prospects for further investigations.

5. We also remark that the extremal problems of the kind we investigate here often admit a clear physical interpretation. Generally speaking, they describe optimal processes in random environments. We have in mind the following. It is known that many processes in nature are connected with the formation of random and simultaneously energetically optimal configurations. We can indicate, for example, the formation of cracks in non-homogenous materials, dislocations in crystals, breakdown filaments in dielectrics, and so on. The modelling of such phenomena is a very promising area of application of the theory of stochastic extremal problems. In the present paper we are unable to discuss these examples in a detailed way. Some recent results in this direction will be presented in a separate publication.

6. We note, finally, that it turns out to be convenient to present a considerable part of the exposition in the framework of some general scheme, namely, in the framework of so-called stochastic models on partially ordered sets (see §1). This scheme includes fields on R^d (the elements of the corresponding partially ordered set are domains), "ordinary" stochastic processes, fields on the space of contours (see [16], [17]), models of the type of [18] connected with stochastic integration on the plane, and a whole range of other models.

Such an approach not only gives the advantage of generality, but also allows us to look into some problems of the theory of random fields and of the theory of stochastic processes from unified positions. This mainly refers to the problem of the construction of Markov processes and fields.

In the theory of Markov processes there are at least two general constructions by means of which from one such process we can construct a whole class of new ones. They are a change of measure by means of an additive functional (see [19]) and a random change of time (first presented in [20]). The construction of Markov fields by means of a change of measure is well known (see, for example, [5], [9]). However, constructions by means of random time change have hardly ever been used in the theory of Markov fields. Stochastic models on partially ordered sets enable us to understand what is the analogue of the random time change in the general situation and to use such constructions to build a whole series of interesting "Markov objects".

I

7. The paper has the following plan. In $\S1-5$ we present general results related to stochastic models on partially ordered sets. In $\S6$, 7 we pass from abstract stochastic models to random fields on a Euclidean space. In \$8 we give a survey of various examples and applications.

The author wishes to express his deep gratitude to A.V. Skorokhod, A.N. Shiryaev, and A.A. Yushkevich for their attention to this work, and to S.E. Kuznetsov for numerous useful discussions of the subject of this paper.

§1. Stochastic models

1.1. Throughout the paper we denote a complete probability space by (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) .

Let (T, \leq) be a partially ordered set, and suppose that to each pair $a, b \in T, a \leq b$, there correspond three σ -algebras $\mathcal{A}_i(a, b) \subseteq \mathcal{F}(i = 1, 2, 3)$ containing the class $\mathscr{N}(\mathcal{F})$ of all \mathcal{F} -measurable sets of measure zero. We say that a family of σ -algebras $\mathfrak{A} = \{\mathcal{A}_i(a, b)\}$ specifies a stochastic model if the following conditions are fulfilled:

1.A. For each
$$a' \leq a \leq b \leq b'$$
 we have $\mathcal{A}_i(a, b) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_i(a', b')$ $(i = 1, 2, 3)$.

1.B. $\mathcal{A}_{3}(a, b) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_{1}(a, b) \cap \mathcal{A}_{2}(a, b)$.

A stochastic model \mathfrak{A} is called *Markov* if for any $a \leq b$ the o-algebras $\mathcal{A}_1(a, b)$ and $\mathcal{A}_2(a, b)$ are conditionally independent with respect to $\mathcal{A}_3(a, b)$; symbolically

$$\mathcal{A}_1(a, b) \amalg \mathcal{A}_2(a, b) \mid \mathcal{A}_3(a, b).$$

1.2. Let a random element $\xi_t(\omega)$, $\omega \in \Omega$, of a measurable space E_t be given for each $t \in T$, that is, let a random function $\xi_t(\omega)$, $t \in T$, be defined. This random function generates a stochastic model:

(1.1)
$$\begin{aligned} \mathcal{A}_1(a,b) &= \sigma\{\xi_t, t \leq b\}; \quad \mathcal{A}_2(a, b) = \sigma\{\xi_t, t \geq a\}; \\ \mathcal{A}_3(a, b) &= \sigma\{\xi_t, a \leq t \leq b\} \quad (a \leq b, a, b \in T), \end{aligned}$$

where $\sigma\{\cdot\}$ is the smallest σ -algebra such that all random elements from the family $\{\cdot\}$ and all events from $\mathscr{N}(\mathscr{F})$ are measurable with respect to it. The family of σ -algebras defined above has the property:

(1.2)
$$\mathcal{A}_1(a, b) = \mathcal{A}_1(b, b), \quad \mathcal{A}_2(a, b) = \mathcal{A}_2(a, a).$$

Models satisfying (1.2) will be called *regular*.

We say that a random function $\xi_t(\omega)$ is Markov if

$$\sigma\{\xi_p, p \leqslant t\} \coprod \sigma\{\xi_q, q \ge t\} \mid \sigma\{\xi_t\}, t \in T.$$

We note that if the model (1.1) is Markov, then the random function generating it is Markov too. Clearly, the converse is not always true (but it is true if T is linearly ordered). We also note that if $\mathfrak{B} = \{\mathfrak{B}_i(a, b)\}$ is a regular Markov model and $\mathfrak{B}_s(t, t) = \sigma\{\zeta_t\}$, where ζ_t is a random element for each t, then ζ_t , $t \in T$, is a Markov random function. Thus in a stochastic model to each interval $[a, b] = \{t \in T: a \leq t \leq b\}$ there correspond three σ -algebras $\mathcal{A}_i(a, b)$ (i = 1, 2, 3) ("past", "future", and "present"). It will be necessary to consider analogous σ -algebras for random intervals.

To this end we assume that T is a partially ordered measurable space, that is, a σ -algebra \mathcal{T} is given on T and $\{(t, s): t \leq s\} \in \mathcal{T} \times \mathcal{T}$. Moreover, we suppose that we have a family \mathcal{H} of maps $f_k: T \to T$, $g_k: T \to T$ (k = 1, 2, ...)satisfying the following requirements:⁽¹⁾

(I) the set of values of $f_k(t)$ and $g_k(t)$ is at most countable $(t \in T, k = 1, 2, ...)$;

(II) $f_k(t) \uparrow t$, $g_k(t) \downarrow t$, $t \in T$;

(III) $\mathcal{F}(f_k) \uparrow \mathcal{T}, \mathcal{F}(g_k) \uparrow \mathcal{T}$, where $\mathcal{T}(f)$ is the σ -algebra consisting of sets of the form $f^{-1}(\Gamma)$, $\Gamma \in \mathcal{T}$;

(IV) for any $t \le s$ we have the inequalities $f_k(t) \le f_k(s)$, $g_k(t) \le g_k(s)$ (k = 1, 2, ...) (monotonicity of the maps f_k, g_k).

A family of maps $\mathscr{H} = \{f_k, g_k\}$ with the above properties will be called a $skeleton^{(2)}$ of a partially ordered measurable space T, and $\{f_k\}$ and $\{g_k\}$ will be called respectively the *left* and *right system of maps* of the skeleton \mathscr{H} . A stochastic model $\mathfrak{A} = \{\mathscr{A}_i(a, b)\}$ given on T will be called continuous (with respect to the skeleton \mathscr{H}) if for any $a, b \in T, a \leq b$, the following condition is satisfied:

1.C. As $k \to \infty$, $\mathcal{A}_i(f_k(a), g_k(b)) \downarrow \mathcal{A}_i(a, b)$ (i = 1, 2, 3).

1.3. We note some simple properties of the space T with a skeleton \mathcal{H} , which will be repeatedly used in the sequel.

Remark 1.1. We fix any k = 1, 2, ... and we consider the countable set \mathfrak{S}_k of all intervals of the form $[f_k(a), g_k(b)], a, b \in T, a \leq b$. We number the intervals of \mathfrak{S}_k : $\mathfrak{S}_k = \{[p_1, q_1], [p_2, q_2], \ldots\}$. Then the set $\{q_1, q_2, \ldots\}$ is a countable upper bound for T, and $\{p_1, p_2, \ldots\}$ is a countable lower bound for T, that is, for any $t \in T$ there are m and n such that $p_m \leq t \leq q_n$.

Remark 1.2. The diagonal $D = \{(t, s) \in T \times T : t = s\}$ of the space $T \times T$ is measurable, since

$$D = \{(t, s): t \leq s\} \cap \{(t, s): s \leq t\} \in \mathcal{T} \times \mathcal{F}.$$

Hence it follows that \mathcal{T} contains one-point sets and any measurable map into (T, \mathcal{T}) has a measurable graph.

⁽¹⁾If t_k (k = 1, 2, ...) are elements of a partially ordered set T, then the notation $t_h \uparrow t$ $(t_k \downarrow t)$ means that $t_1 < t_2 < ..., t = \sup \{t_k\}$ $(t_1 \ge t_2 \ge ..., t = \inf \{t_k\})$. If \mathcal{T}_k (k = 1, 2, ...) and \mathcal{T} are σ -algebras, then we write $\mathcal{T}_k \downarrow \mathcal{T}$ if $\mathcal{T}_1 \supseteq \mathcal{T}_2 \supseteq ..., \mathcal{T} =$ $= \bigcap \mathcal{T}_k$ and $\mathcal{T}_k \uparrow \mathcal{T}$ if $\mathcal{T}_1 \subseteq \mathcal{T}_2 \subseteq ..., \mathcal{T} = \bigvee \mathcal{T}_k$ (that is, \mathcal{T} is generated by all the \mathcal{T}_k).

⁽²⁾This term was used in [3] and [21] for a different (but similar) notion.

Remark 1.3. There is a function $\varphi: T \to R^1$ that is measurable and strictly monotone, that is, $\varphi(t) < \varphi(s)$ whenever $t \leq s$, $t \neq s$. Namely, we consider a countable set

$$W = \{w_1, w_2, \ldots\} = g_1(T) \cup g_2(T) \cup \ldots$$

and we put

$$J(t) = \{j: w_j \ge t\}; \quad \varphi(t) = -\sum_{j \in J(t)} 2^{-j}$$

(compare a similar construction in [22]). Then for $t \leq s$ we have $J(t) \supseteq J(s)$ and consequently $\varphi(t) \leq \varphi(s)$, that is, φ is monotone. If $\varphi(t) = \varphi(s)$, then J(t) = J(s), so $s \leq g_k(t)$ (k = 1, 2, ...). Now $s \leq t$ from (II), and consequently s = t.

Remark 1.4. We take an arbitrary (not necessarily continuous) stochastic model $\mathfrak{B} = \{\mathfrak{H}_i(a, b)\}$ on T. We suppose that the skeleton \mathfrak{H} satisfies the following additional condition:

(V) For any $t \in T$ and m = 1, 2, ... there are *j*, *k* such that $f_j(f_k(t)) \ge f_m(t)$ and $g_j(g_k(t)) \le g_m(t)$.

Putting

$$\check{\mathscr{B}}_{i}(a, b) = \bigcap_{m=1}^{\infty} \mathscr{B}_{i}(f_{m}(a), g_{m}(b)) \quad (i = 1, 2, 3),$$

we obtain a new stochastic model $\check{\mathfrak{B}} = \{\check{\mathscr{B}}_i(a, b)\}$, which we call the *closure* of the model \mathfrak{B} . This model is continuous, since from (V)

$$\bigcap_{k=1}^{\widetilde{n}} \check{\mathscr{B}}_{i} \left(f_{k} \left(a \right), \ g_{k} \left(b \right) \right) = \bigcap_{k=1}^{\widetilde{n}} \bigcap_{j=1}^{\widetilde{n}} \mathscr{B}_{i} \left(f_{j} \left(f_{k} \left(a \right) \right), \ g_{j} \left(g_{k} \left(b \right) \right) \right) =$$
$$= \bigcap_{m=1}^{\widetilde{n}} \mathscr{B}_{i} \left(f_{m} \left(a \right), \ g_{m} \left(b \right) \right) = \check{\mathscr{B}}_{i} \left(a, b \right).$$

1.4. Let $\alpha(\omega)$ and $\beta(\omega)$ be two random elements of the space (T, \mathcal{T}) such that $\alpha(\omega) \leq \beta(\omega), \omega \in \Omega$. Then we call $[\alpha, \beta]$ a random interval.

For any k = 1, 2, ... and i = 1, 2, 3 we consider the smallest σ -algebra $\mathcal{A}_{i}^{h}(\alpha, \beta)$ with respect to which $\alpha(\omega)$, $\beta(\omega)$, and all events of the form

(1.3)
$$\Gamma \cap \{f_k(\alpha) = a, g_k(\beta) = b\}, \Gamma \in \mathcal{A}_i(a, b),$$

where $a, b \in T$, $a \leq b$, are measurable. We put

$$\mathcal{A}_i(\alpha, \beta) = \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \mathcal{A}_i^k(\alpha, \beta) \quad (i = 1, 2, 3).$$

Remark 1.5. As k increases the σ -algebras \mathcal{A}_{i}^{k} do not grow, and thus

(1.4)
$$\mathcal{A}_{i}^{*}(\alpha,\beta) \downarrow \mathcal{A}_{i}(\alpha,\beta)$$

To verify this it is enough to prove that any non-empty set of the form

$$\Delta = \{f_m(\alpha) = a, g_m(\beta) = b\} \cap \Gamma$$

belongs to $\mathcal{A}_i^k(\alpha, \beta)$ for any $m \ge k$, $a \le b$, and $\Gamma \in \mathcal{A}_i(a, b)$. According to (III) there are measurable maps $f_{k,m}$, $g_{k,m}$: $T \rightarrow T$ such that

(1.5)
$$f_k(t) = f_{k,m}(f_m(t)), \quad g_k(t) = g_{k,m}(g_m(t))$$

 $(m \ge k)$. Hence

(1.6)
$$\Delta = \Xi \cap \Xi', \quad \Xi = \{f_m(\alpha) = a, g_m(\beta) = b\},\$$

(1.7) $\Xi' = \{f_k(\alpha) = a', g_k(\beta) = b'\} \cap \Gamma,$

where $a' = f_{k,m}(a)$, $b' = g_{k,m}(b)$. Moreover, $a' \leq a, b' \geq b$ by (II), hence $\Gamma \in \mathcal{A}_i(a, b) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_i(a', b')$. Thus, $\Xi, \Xi' \in \mathcal{A}_i^h(\alpha, \beta)$, which proves our claim.

Remark 1.6. The above definition of σ -algebras $\mathcal{A}_i(\alpha, \beta)$ (i = 1, 2, 3)(describing "past", "future", and "present" for the random interval $[\alpha, \beta]$) depends, in general, on a previously fixed skeleton \mathcal{H} . However, in particular examples it is often possible to establish the invariance of this definition with respect to the choice of \mathcal{H} so long as \mathcal{H} satisfies some supplementary regularity conditions. Namely, this happens for stochastic models related to random fields on \mathbb{R}^d (see Lemma 6.3 and Remark 6.2).

Remark 1.7. A whole series of examples refers to models where the set T is finite or countable. In this case we assume throughout that \mathcal{F} consists of all subsets of T and $f_k(t) = g_k(t) \equiv t$.

§2. The strong Markov property. Splitting random elements

2.1. Throughout §2-5 we assume that a continuous stochastic model $\mathfrak{A} = \{\mathcal{A}_i(a, b)\}$ is given on a partially ordered space (T, \mathcal{F}, \leq) with a skeleton $\mathcal{H} = \{f_k, g_k\}$.

If \mathcal{A}_1 and \mathcal{A}_2 are two sets of events, then we denote by $\mathcal{A}_1 \mathcal{A}_2$ the set of events that can be represented in the form $\Gamma_1 \cap \Gamma_2$, where $\Gamma_1 \in \mathcal{A}_1$, $\Gamma_2 \in \mathcal{A}_2$.

A random element $\tau(\omega)$ ($\omega \in \Omega$) will be called *splitting* if the following condition is satisfied:

(\mathscr{F}) For all $a \leq b$, $a, b \in T$, and any $D \subseteq [a, b]$, $D \in \mathscr{T}$, the event $\{\tau \in D\}$ belongs to $\mathscr{A}_1(a, b) \mathscr{A}_2(a, b)$.

We say that a model \mathfrak{A} has the strong Markov property with respect to a random element τ if the following condition holds:

(SM) For any random elements α and β such that

$$\alpha(\omega) \leqslant \tau(\omega) \leqslant \beta(\omega), \quad \alpha(\omega) = f(\tau(\omega)), \quad \beta(\omega) = g(\tau(\omega))$$

(f, $g: T \to T$ are measurable maps) the σ -algebras $\mathcal{A}_1(\alpha, \beta)$ and $\mathcal{A}_2(\alpha, \beta)$ are conditionally independent with respect to $\mathcal{A}_3(\alpha, \beta)$.

Theorem 2.1. Let \mathfrak{A} be a Markov model. For it to have the strong Markov property with respect to τ it is sufficient that the random element τ is splitting. This condition is necessary if the following supplementary condition is imposed on the model:

2.A. For any $t \in T$ and k = 1, 2, ...

 $\mathcal{A}_1(f_k(t), g_k(t)) \bigvee \mathcal{A}_2(f_k(t), g_k(t)) = \mathcal{F}.$

2.2. Theorem 2.1 is proved by means of the following Lemma 2.1, whose proof can be found in [24] (a somewhat more general result was obtained earlier in [23]; compare also [14]).

As always, let (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) be a complete probability space. For convenience of presentation, let us agree to call any three σ -algebras $\mathscr{C}_i \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ (i = 1, 2, 3) a Markov system if

$$\mathscr{C}_1 \amalg \mathscr{C}_2 \mid \mathscr{C}_3, \quad \mathscr{N}(\mathscr{F}) \subseteq \mathscr{C}_3 \subseteq \mathscr{C}_1 \cap \mathscr{C}_2$$

(it is clear that we then have $\mathscr{C}_{\mathbf{s}} = \mathscr{C}_{\mathbf{1}} \cap \mathscr{C}_{\mathbf{2}}$).

Let N be a countable set, and let a Markov system of σ -algebras $\mathscr{C}_i(n)$ (i = 1, 2, 3) correspond to each $n \in N$. For a random element $\gamma(\omega) \in N$ ($\omega \in \Omega$) we denote by $\mathscr{C}_i(\gamma)$ (i = 1, 2, 3) the σ -algebra generated by the events

(2.1)
$$\{\gamma = n\} \cap \Gamma, \quad \Gamma \in \mathscr{C}_i(n), \quad n \in N.$$

Lemma 2.1. For the σ -algebras $\mathscr{C}_i(\gamma)$ (i = 1, 2, 3) to form a Markov system it is sufficient that the random element γ satisfies the condition

(2.2) $\{\gamma = n\} \in \mathscr{C}_1(n)\mathscr{C}_2(n), \quad n \in \mathbb{N}.$

This condition is necessary if the following additional requirement is fulfilled:

(2.3)
$$\mathscr{C}_1(n) \vee \mathscr{C}_2(n) = \mathscr{F}, n \in \mathbb{N}.$$

2.3. We establish two more auxiliary propositions.

Lemma 2.2. Let $\lambda = [\alpha, \beta]$ be a random interval in T having a finite or countable set of values L. Then for each i = 1, 2, 3 the σ -algebra $\mathcal{A}_i(\lambda) = \mathcal{A}_i(\alpha, \beta)$ consists of events of the form

(2.4)
$$\bigcup_{l\in L} \{\lambda = l\} \cap \Gamma_l, \quad \Gamma_l \in \mathcal{A}_l(l).$$

Proof. 1) We put

(2.5)
$$h_k(l) = [f_k(a), g_k(b)], \quad l = [a, b].$$

We fix an index i = 1, 2, 3 and omit it from now on.

We consider the class $\mathscr{S}^{k}(\lambda)$ of sets representable in a form like (2.4) but with $\Gamma_{l} \in \mathscr{A}(h_{k}(l))$, and we claim that $\mathscr{S}^{k}(\lambda) = \mathscr{A}^{k}(\lambda) = \mathscr{A}^{k}(\alpha, \beta)$. We note, first of all, that the class $\mathscr{S}^{k}(\lambda)$ is a σ -algebra containing events of the form $\{\lambda = l\} = \{\alpha = a, \beta = b\}$. Further, if $\Delta = \{h_{k}(\lambda) = l'\} \cap \Gamma$, where $\Gamma \in \mathscr{A}(l')$, then

$$\Delta = \bigcup_{l \in L: \ h_k(l) = l'} \left[\{ \lambda = l \} \cap \Gamma \right] \in \mathscr{F}^k(\lambda),$$

since $\Gamma \in \mathcal{A}(l') = \mathcal{A}(h_k(l))$. Thus, $\mathscr{G}^k(\lambda)$ contains all events generating $\mathcal{A}^k(\lambda)$, so $\mathcal{A}^k(\lambda) \subseteq \mathscr{G}^k(\lambda)$. The reverse inclusion follows from the chain of relations

$$\{\lambda = l\} \cap \Gamma_l = \{\lambda = l\} \cap \{h_k(\lambda) = h_k(l)\} \cap \Gamma \in \mathcal{A}^k(\lambda),$$

where $\Gamma_l \in \mathcal{A}(h_k(l))$.

2) Now let $\Sigma \in \mathcal{A}(\lambda) = \bigcap \mathcal{A}^k(\lambda)$. Then, as we have just shown, for any k = 1, 2, ...

$$\Sigma = \bigcup_{l \in L} \{\lambda = l\} \cap \Gamma_l^k, \quad \Gamma_l^k \in \mathcal{A} \ (h_k \ (l)).$$

Consequently, $\Sigma = \bigcup \{ \{\lambda = l\} \cap \Gamma_l \}$, where $\Gamma_l = \liminf \Gamma_l^k \in \mathcal{A}(l)$, from 1.C and (2.5). Conversely, if an event Ξ can be represented in the form (2.4), then from 1) $\Xi \in \mathcal{A}^k(\lambda)$ for any k, and consequently $\Xi \in \mathcal{A}(\lambda)$. The lemma is proved.

2.4. Lemma 2.3. Let $\lambda = [\alpha, \beta]$ be a random interval such that

(2.6)
$$\{f_k(\alpha) = a, g_k(\beta) = b\} \in \mathcal{A}_1(a, b) \mathcal{A}_2(a, b)$$

for all k = 1, 2, ... and $a, b \in T$, $a \leq b$. If the model is Markov, then

$$(2.7) \qquad \qquad \mathcal{A}_1(\alpha, \ \beta) \coprod \mathcal{A}_2(\alpha, \ \beta) \mid \mathcal{A}_3(\alpha, \ \beta).$$

Proof (compare [24]). For $i = 1, 2, 3, k, m = 1, 2, ..., k \le m$, we denote by $\mathcal{A}_{i}^{k,m}(\lambda)$ the σ -algebra generated by events of the form

$$\{h_k(\lambda) = l', h_m(\lambda) = l\} \cap \Gamma, \quad \Gamma \in \mathcal{A}_i(l'),$$

where l = [a, b] and l' = [a', b'] are all possible intervals in T. By property (III) of the maps $\{f_k, g_k\}$ (see §1) we have $\mathcal{A}_i^{k,m}(\lambda) \uparrow \mathcal{A}_i^k(\lambda)$. Moreover, according to (1.4), $\mathcal{A}_i^k(\lambda) \downarrow \mathcal{A}_i(\lambda)$. Thus, since the property of a system of three σ -algebras of being Markov is preserved by the limit passages \uparrow and \downarrow , to prove (2.7) it is enough to show that the system $\mathcal{A}_i^{k,m}(\lambda)$ (i = 1, 2, 3) is Markov for any $k \leq m$.

To this end we fix $k \leq m$ and turn to Lemma 2.1. We denote by γ the pair of random intervals $(h_m(\lambda), h_k(\lambda))$, and by N the set (at most countable) of all values of γ . For $n = (l, l') \in N$ we put $\mathscr{C}_i(n) = \mathscr{A}_i(l')$ (i = 1, 2, 3). Then $\mathscr{A}_i^{h,m}(\lambda) = \mathscr{C}_i(\gamma)$, which follows directly from the definition of the σ -algebras. The condition (2.6) gives $\{\gamma = n\} = \Gamma_1 \cap \Gamma_2 \cap \Gamma'_1 \cap \Gamma'_2$, where $\Gamma'_i \in \mathscr{A}_l(l')$, $\Gamma_i \in \mathscr{A}_l(l)$, and since $\{\gamma = n\} \neq \emptyset$, we have $l \subseteq l'$ (since $h_m(\lambda) \subseteq h_k(\lambda)$), and so $\Gamma_i \in \mathscr{A}_l(l')$. Thus, $\{\gamma = n\} \in \mathscr{C}_1(n)\mathscr{C}_2(n)$, and so drawing on Lemma 2.1 we conclude that $\mathscr{C}_l(\gamma) = \mathscr{A}_i^{h,m}(\lambda)$ (i = 1, 2, 3) is a Markov system.

2.5. Proof of Theorem 2.1. In view of Lemma 2.3, to prove the sufficiency we need to check only the condition (2.6) for random intervals $[\alpha, \beta] = [f(\tau), g(\tau)]$ described in (*S*-*M*). If the event indicated in (2.6) occurs, then

$$a = f_h(f(\tau)) \leqslant f(\tau) = \alpha \leqslant \tau \leqslant \beta = g(\tau) \leqslant g_h(g(\tau)) = b,$$

and consequently this event can be represented in the form $\{\tau \in D\}$, where

$$D = \{t \in [a, b]: f_k(f(t)) = a, g_k(g(t)) = b\} \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}$$

Thus, (2.6) follows from (\mathcal{S}) .

To demonstrate the necessity we assume that $(\mathcal{G} \circ \mathcal{H})$ and 2.A hold, we fix any $[a, b], \tilde{\mathcal{T}} \ni D \subseteq [a, b], D \neq \emptyset, k \ge 1$, and we show that

(2.8)
$$\Delta = \{\tau \in D\} \in \mathcal{A}_1(\overline{a}, \overline{b}) \mathcal{A}_2(\overline{a}, \overline{b}),$$

where $\overline{a} = f_k(a)$, $\overline{b} = g_k(b)$. Passing to the limit as $k \to \infty$ and employing the continuity of the stochastic model, we obtain the required property: $\Delta \in \mathcal{A}_1(a, b) \mathcal{A}_2(a, b)$. The limit passage is justified for the following reason. If $\mathcal{A}_i^h \downarrow \mathcal{A}_i$ (i = 1, 2) are two sequences of σ -algebras and $\Delta = \Delta_1^h \cap \Delta_2^h \in \mathcal{A}_1^h \mathcal{A}_2^h$ for all k, then $\Delta \in \mathcal{A}_1 \mathcal{A}_2$ since $\Delta = \Delta_1 \cap \Delta_2$, where

$$\Delta_i = \bigcup_{n \ k \ge n} \bigcap_{k \ge n} \Delta_i^k \in \mathcal{A}_i.$$

Let us verify (2.8). We denote by J the countable set of intervals of the form $[f_m(t), g_m(t)]$ $(m = 1, 2, ..., t \in T)$ that are different from $[\overline{a}, \overline{b}]$, and we observe that for any $t \notin D$ there is an interval $[a', b'] \in J$ containing it. For otherwise $f_m(t) = \overline{a}, g_m(t) = \overline{b}$ for all m. Hence $\overline{a} = t = \overline{b}$ (since $f_m(t) \uparrow t$ and $g_m(t) \downarrow t$) and so $t \in D$, which is a contradiction. We number the elements of J and taking into account the above remark we define the maps $f, g: T \to T$ by putting $[f(t), g(t)] = [\overline{a}, \overline{b}]$ for $t \in D$, and for $t \notin D$ taking [f(t), g(t)] to be the interval with the least number, belonging to J and containing t. It is clear that f and g are measurable, $f(t) \leq t \leq g(t)$, and

(2.9)
$$\{\mathbf{\tau} \in D\} = \{[f(\mathbf{\tau}), g(\mathbf{\tau})] = [\widetilde{a}, \widetilde{b}]\}.$$

We consider the random interval $[\alpha, \beta] = [f(\tau), g(\tau)]$. By (\mathcal{FM}) , $\mathcal{A}_i(\alpha, \beta)$ (i = 1, 2, 3) is a Markov system of σ -algebras, and $\mathcal{A}_i(\alpha, \beta)$ are given by (2.4), because $[\alpha, \beta]$ takes a countable set of values. Moreover, for any value [p, q] of the interval $[\alpha, \beta]$ we can find $\hat{t}, t \in T$ and j = 1, 2, ...such that

$$[p, q] = [f(t), g(t)] \ni \hat{t}, \quad f(t) \leq f_j(\hat{t}), \quad g_j(\hat{t}) \leq g(t),$$

and consequently $\mathcal{A}_1(p, q) \lor \mathcal{A}_2(p, q) = \mathcal{F}$ by 2.A. This condition together with (2.4) allows us to apply Lemma 2.1 to $\gamma = [\alpha, \beta]$ and to obtain the relation (2.8) using (2.9).

2.6. Remark 2.1. Let (T, \mathcal{F}, \leq) be a partially ordered measurable space. let $\{g_k(t)\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ be a right system of maps, and for each $t \in T$, let $\mathscr{E}_i(t)$ (i = 1, 2, 3) be a Markov system of σ -algebras in $(\Omega, \overline{\mathcal{F}}, P)$, where

$$\mathscr{E}_i(g_k(t)) \downarrow \mathscr{E}_i(t) \ (k \to \infty) \text{ and } \mathscr{E}_i(t) \subseteq \mathscr{E}_i(s)$$

whenever $t \leq s$. For a random element τ of the space T we put $\mathscr{E}_{i}(\tau) = \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \mathscr{E}_{i}^{k}(\tau)$, where $\mathscr{E}_{i}^{k}(\tau)$ is generated by τ and by the events $\{g_{k}(\tau) = t\} \cap \Gamma, \Gamma \in \mathscr{E}_{i}(t)$. If for any $t \in T$ and $D \in \mathcal{F}, D \subseteq \{s: s \leq t\}$ we have $\{\tau \in D\} \in \mathscr{E}_{1}(t) \mathscr{E}_{2}(t)$, then $\mathscr{E}_{i}(\tau)$ is a Markov system of σ -algebras. The converse implication is valid under an additional hypothesis:

$$\mathscr{E}_1(g_k(t)) \bigvee \mathscr{E}_2(g_k(t)) = \mathscr{F}$$

This fact generalizes Theorem 2.1 and can be proved similarly. On the other hand, under the condition that in (T, \mathcal{F}, \leq) there is a left system of maps $\{f_k(t)\}$, this result is a direct consequence of Theorem 2.1 (one needs to put $\mathcal{A}_i(a, b) = \mathcal{E}_i(b)$).

§3. Extremal problems and splitting random sets

3.1. Our further aim is to describe various effective constructions of splitting random elements. An intermediate step to achieving this aim will be the investigation of a class of random subsets of T, with similar properties to the class of splitting elements.⁽¹⁾

Let a set $Z(\omega) \subseteq T$ (possibly empty for some ω) correspond to each $\omega \in \Omega$. We say that $Z(\omega)$ is a random set if for any $D \in \mathcal{T}$

$$(3.1) \qquad \{\omega: Z(\omega) \cap D \neq \emptyset\} \in \mathcal{F}$$

We call a random set $Z(\omega)$ splitting if for any $a \leq b$ $(a, b \in T)$ and $D \subseteq [a, b], D \in \mathcal{T}$,

$$(3.2) \qquad \{\omega: Z(\omega) \cap D \neq \emptyset\} \in \mathcal{A}_1(a, b) \mathcal{A}_2(a, b).$$

We note that (3.2) implies (3.1) (since, by virtue of Remark 1.1, T can be represented as a union of countably many intervals). Moreover, if $Z(\omega)$ consists of one point $\tau(\omega)$ for each ω and if it satisfies (3.2), then $\tau(\omega)$ is a splitting random element.

3.2. Let $F(\omega, t)$ be a real-valued functional defined for $\omega \in \Omega$ and $t \in Z(\omega) \subseteq T$. We denote by $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ the set of all $s \in Z(\omega)$ such that $F(\omega, s) \leq F(\omega, t), t \in Z(\omega)$, that is, the set of the points of $Z(\omega)$ where $F(\omega, \cdot)$ attains its minimum.

In this section we give conditions on Z and F under which the following assertion is valid: if $Z(\omega)$ is a splitting random set, then $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ is also a splitting random set. Results of this kind can be used to construct splitting random elements. For let us suppose that we have proved that $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ consists of exactly one point $\tau(\omega)$ for each ω . Then, as we mentioned above, $\tau(\omega)$ is a splitting random element. If $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ contains more than one

⁽¹⁾In applications to fields on \mathbb{R}^d (see §§6, 7) the elements of the space T are domains, and random subsets of T are random classes of domains.

point, then we can repeat the previous operation, considering another functional $G(\omega, t)$ on $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ and the set of its minimum points. Iterating this procedure, we can obtain one-element splitting random sets at some (finite or infinite) step.

In many concrete examples the random set $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ obtained after the first step contains its infimum $\tau(\omega) = \inf \overline{Z}(\omega)$ (understood in the sense of the partial ordering given on T), and the random element $\tau(\omega)$ turns out to be splitting. The splitting property of $\tau(\omega)$ is established by using the fact that the element $\tau(\omega) = \inf \overline{Z}(\omega)$ is the unique minimum point of any strictly monotone functional⁽¹⁾ $\Phi(t), t \in T$. Thus, to construct $\tau(\omega)$ we first minimize $F(\omega, t)$ on $Z(\omega)$ and then $\Phi(t)$ on $\overline{Z}(\omega)$, that is, we repeat the procedure twice.

We remark also that in particular examples the set Z or the functional F may not depend on ω , see §8. (A set Z that is independent of ω is a trivial example of a splitting random set.)

3.3. We introduce some definitions and notations which will be necessary in the sequel.

We assume that to each $a, b \in T$, $a \leq b$, there correspond two non-empty sets $M_1(a, b), M_2(a, b) \subseteq T$ (left and right zones for the interval [a, b]) satisfying the following properties: (M1) if $[a, b] \subseteq [a', b']$ then $M_i(a, b) \subseteq M_i(a', b')$ (i = 1, 2); $(M2) [a, b] \subseteq M_i(a, b)$ (i = 1, 2); $(M3) M_i(a, b) \in \mathcal{T}$ (i = 1, 2); (M4) the set $\{v: v \leq t\}$ is contained in the union of $M_1(t, t)$ and $M_2(t, t)$.

The most important example of $M_i(a, b)$ is the following:

$$(3.3) M_1(a, b) = \{t: t \leq b\}, M_2(a, b) = \{t: t \geq a\}$$

(regular zones). Whenever we discuss regular models (see §1.2) we assume that $M_i(a, b)$ have the form (3.3). Zones of a different type arise in a natural way in connection with the models described in §8.8.

Let F(t) be a real functional defined on some set $Z \subseteq T$. (We assume here that F and Z do not depend on ω .) We call F(t), $t \in Z$, sufficient if the following condition holds:

(*) For any $t \in Z$ the relations

(3.4)
$$F(a) \ge F(t), \quad a \in M_1(t, t) \cap Z, \\F(b) \ge F(t), \quad b \in M_2(t, t) \cap Z,$$

give $F(s) \ge F(t)$, $s \in Z$.

The inequalities (3.4) mean that in the left zone $M_1(t, t)$ and in the right zone $M_2(t, t)$ there are no points $s \in Z$ such that F(s) < F(t). According to (*), the relations (3.4) are sufficient conditions for a minimum of F on Z (it is clear that these conditions are always necessary).

⁽¹⁾The existence of such functionals on T follows from Remark 1.3.

Proposition 3.1. Let F(t), $t \in Z$, be a sufficient functional, $a \le b$, $a, b \in T$, and $\mathcal{F} \ni D \subseteq [a, b]$. Then the following statements are equivalent: (a) $F(\cdot)$ attains its minimum on Z at some point $t \in D$; (b) for each i = 1, 2 the minimum of $F(\cdot)$ on $M_i(a, b) \cap Z$ is attained at some point $t_i \in D \cap$ $\cap M_i(a, b) \cap Z$.

Proof. To get (b) from (a) we put $t_i = t$, since $t \in D \subseteq [a, b]$, and from (M2) we have $t \in M_i(a, b)$.

Now let (b) hold, that is,

(3.5) $F(s) \ge F(t_i), \quad s \in Z_i = Z \cap M_i(a, b).$

Since $t_i \in D \subseteq [a, b] \subseteq M_1(a, b) \cap M_2(a, b)$, we have $t_i \in Z_1 \cap Z_2 \cap D$. Hence from (3.5) we obtain

(3.6)
$$F(t_1) = F(t_2).$$

We put $t = t_1$. Then for every $s \in Z \cap M_i(t, t)$ we have $F(s) \ge F(t)$. Indeed, $s \in Z_i$, since $Z \cap M_i(t, t) \subseteq Z \cap M_i(a, b)$ (see (M1)) and from (3.5) and (3.6) we get $F(s) \ge F(t_i) = F(t)$. Applying the sufficiency of F we conclude that $t \in D$ is the minimum point of F on Z. The proposition is proved.

3.4. Let a set $Z(\omega) \subseteq T$ correspond to each $\omega \in \Omega$ and let a real functional $F(\omega, t)$ be defined ($\omega \in \Omega, t \in Z(\omega)$). We say briefly that this functional is sufficient if for every ω it is sufficient with respect to the variable $t \in Z(\omega)$.

The sufficiency property will play a key role in accomplishing the programme outlined in §3.2. But we will need some more conditions expressing the consistency of $F(\omega, t)$ and $Z(\omega)$ with the given stochastic model $\{\mathcal{A}_{t}(a, b)\}$.

For $a, b \in T$, $a \leq b$, we put

(3.7)
$$F_{i}^{a, b}(\omega, t, s) = \begin{cases} F(\omega, t) - F(\omega, s), & t, s \in Z(\omega) \cap M_{i}(a, b), \\ +\infty & \text{otherwise.} \end{cases}$$

We call the functional $F(\omega, t), t \in Z(\omega)$, local if⁽¹⁾

$$(3.8) F_i^{a,b}(\omega, t, s) \in \mathcal{A}_i(a, b) \times \mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{F} (a \leq b, i = 1, 2).$$

From (3.8) and (3.7) it follows that

$$(3.9) \qquad \{(\omega, t): t \in Z(\omega) \cap M_i(a, b)\} \in \mathcal{A}_i(a, b) \times \mathcal{T}$$

for all $a \leq b$ and i = 1, 2 (the property that the set $Z(\omega)$ is local).

The conditions (3.8) and (3.9) mean, respectively, that the increments of the functional F and the construction of the set $Z(\omega)$ in the zone $M_i(a, b)$ can be defined using only the information contained in the σ -algebra $\mathcal{A}_i(a,b)$ (see also Proposition 3.2 at the end of this section).

⁽¹⁾The symbol ξ is used here to denote the measurability of functions with respect to σ -algebras.

Now, if $\Gamma \subseteq \Omega$ and \mathcal{G} is a subalgebra of \mathcal{F} , then we denote by $\mathcal{G}|_{\Gamma}$ the σ -algebra of all events $\Delta \in \mathcal{F}$ such that

$$\Delta \cap \Gamma = \Delta' \cap \Gamma$$

for some $\Delta' \in \mathcal{G}$. We put

$$\Omega_i^{\mathbb{Z}}(a, b) = \{ \omega \colon \mathbb{Z}(\omega) \cap M_i(a, b) \neq \emptyset \}$$

and

$$\mathcal{A}_{i}^{Z}(a,b) = \mathcal{A}_{i}(a,b) |_{\mathcal{Q}_{i}(a,b)}$$

We say that a functional $F(\omega, t), t \in Z(\omega)$, is weakly local if

(3.10)
$$F_{i}^{a, b}(\omega, t, s) \in \mathcal{A}_{i}^{\mathbb{Z}}(a, b) \times \mathcal{T} \times \mathcal{T}$$

for all $a \le b$ and i = 1, 2. From (3.10) and (3.7) we find that

$$(3.11) \qquad \{(\omega, t): t \in Z(\omega) \cap M_i(a, b)\} \in \mathcal{A}_i^Z(a, b) \times \mathcal{T},$$

where $i = 1, 2, a, b \in T$, $a \le b$ (Z(ω) is weakly local).

The condition (3.10) has the following meaning. If it is known that the domain $Z(\omega)$ of a functional $F(\omega, t)$ intersects the zone $M_i(a, b)$, then we can define increments $F(\omega, t) - F(\omega, s)$ on the intersection $Z(\omega) \cap M_i(a, b)$ employing the information contained in $\mathcal{A}_i(a, b)$ (i = 1, 2). (3.11) can be interpreted similarly.

We remark that local sets (or functionals) are weakly local, since $\mathcal{A}_i(a, b) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_i^{\mathbb{Z}}(a, b)$. If the domain Z of a functional F does not depend on ω , then the conditions (3.8) and (3.10) are equivalent, since then $\Omega_i^{\mathbb{Z}}(a, b)$ is empty or coincides with Ω . (See also Proposition 3.2.)

We call a random element $\tau(\omega)$ local or weakly local if the one-element set $\{\tau(\omega)\}$ has the corresponding property. An equivalent definition will be given in Lemma 5.1.

3.5. Up to the end of §5 we assume that the measurable space (T, \mathcal{I}) satisfies the following condition:

3.A. There exist a standard measurable space⁽¹⁾ (E, \mathfrak{E}) and a measurable map θ : $(E, \mathfrak{E}) \rightarrow (T, \mathfrak{F})$ such that $\theta(E) = T$.

The main result of this section is the following.

Theorem 3.1. Let $F(\omega, t), t \in Z(\omega)$, be a sufficient weakly local functional and let

(3.12)
$$\overline{Z}(\omega) = \{t \in Z(\omega): F(\omega, t) = \min_{s \in Z(\omega)} F(\omega, s)\}$$

be the set of its minimum points on $Z(\omega)$. If $Z(\omega)$ is a splitting random set. then $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ is also a splitting random set.

⁽¹⁾A measurable space is called *standard* if it is isomorphic to a Borel subset of a complete separable metric space.

We first establish Theorem 3.2, formulated below, whose first part is used in the proof of Theorem 3.1.

Theorem 3.2. Let $F(\omega, t)$, $t \in Z(\omega)$, be a weakly local functional. Then the following assertions are true: 1) for any $a \leq b$, $a, b \in T$ (i = 1, 2),

(3.13) $\{(\omega, t): t \in \overline{Z}_i (\omega, a, b)\} \in \mathcal{A}_i^{\mathbb{Z}} (a, b) \times \mathcal{T},$

where $\overline{Z}_i(\omega, a, b)$ is the set of minimum points of the functional $F(\omega, t)$ on the set

 $(3.14) Z_i(\omega, a, b) = Z(\omega) \cap M_i(a, b);$

2) if $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ is a random set, then $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ is weakly local.

3.6. The proofs of Theorems 3.1 and 3.2 are based on some general lemmas. As before, let (Ω, \mathcal{F}) and (T, \mathcal{F}) be two measurable spaces, where the

first is complete with respect to the measure P and the second satisfies condition 3.A. Let Δ be an arbitrary set from $\mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{F}$.

Lemma 3.1. The projection $pr_{\Omega} \Delta$ is measurable with respect to \mathcal{F} .

Lemma 3.2. There is a measurable map $\xi: (\Omega, \mathcal{F}) \to (T, \mathcal{F})$ such that $(\omega, \xi(\omega)) \in \Delta$ for all $\omega \in \operatorname{pr}_{\Omega} \Delta$.

In the case of standard (T, \mathcal{F}) Lemmas 3.1 and 3.2 can be found, for example, in [25], [26]. The general case reduces to this one in the following way. We put

$$\Delta' = \{ (\omega, e) \in \Omega \times E: (\omega, \theta(e)) \in \Delta \},\$$

where $\theta: E \to T$ is the map described in 3.A. It is clear that $\Delta' \in \mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{E}$ and $\mathbf{pr}_{\Omega} \Delta = \mathbf{pr}_{\Omega} \Delta'$, since $\theta(E) = T$. Moreover, if $(\omega, \xi'(\omega)) \in \Delta'$ for $\omega \in \mathbf{pr}_{\Omega} \Delta'$, where $\xi': (\Omega, \mathcal{F}) \to (E, \mathcal{E})$ is a measurable map, then the desired map $\xi(\omega)$ can be defined by the formula $\xi(\omega) = \theta(\xi'(\omega))$.

Now, let $\Phi(\omega, t)$ be a $\mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{F}$ -measurable map on $\Omega \times T$ with values in $\mathbb{R}^1 \cup \{+\infty\}$.

Lemma 3.3. The function $\overline{\Phi}(\omega) = \inf_{\substack{t \in T}} \Phi(\omega, t)$ (taking values in $\mathbb{R}^1 \cup \{-\infty\} \cup \{+\infty\}$) is measurable with respect to \mathcal{F} .

This follows immediately from Lemma 3.1, since

$$\{\omega: \overline{\Phi}(\omega) < r\} = \operatorname{pr}_{\mathbf{Q}}\{(\omega, t): \Phi(\omega, t) < r\}, \quad r \in \mathbb{R}^{1}.$$

Lemma 3.4. Let a set $Y(\omega) \subseteq T$ correspond to each $\omega \in \Omega$ and let a real function $H(\omega, t)$ be defined for each $\omega \in \Omega$, $t \in Y(\omega)$. Let the function

$$H(\omega, t, s) = \begin{cases} H(\omega, t) - H(\omega, s), & t, s \in Y(\omega), \\ +\infty & otherwise, \end{cases}$$

be measurable with respect to $\mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{F}$. Then

$$(3.15) \quad \{(\omega, t): t \in Y(\omega), \quad H(\omega, t) = \min_{s \in Y(\omega)} H(\omega, s)\} \in \mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{F}.$$

Proof. We note first that

$$\Delta = \{(\omega, t): t \in Y(\omega)\} = \{(\omega, t): H(\omega, t, t) < \infty\} \in \mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{T},$$

and consequently by Lemma 3.2 we can find a measurable map $\xi: (\Omega, \mathcal{F}) \to (T, \mathcal{F})$ such that $(\omega, \xi(\omega)) \in \Delta$ for $\omega \in \Omega_0 \cong \{\omega: Y(\omega) \neq \emptyset\}$. The function $G(\omega, t) = H(\omega, t, \xi(\omega))$ takes values in $\mathbb{R}^1 \cup \{+\infty\}$ and is $\mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{F}$ -measurable. Hence by Lemma 3.3 the function $\overline{G}(\omega) = \inf_{t \in T} G(\omega, t)$ is measurable with respect to \mathcal{F} . Consequently,

(3.16)
$$\{(\omega, t): +\infty > \overline{G}(\omega) = G(\omega, t)\} \in \mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{T}.$$

We claim now that the sets in (3.15) and (3.16) coincide (we denote them by Q and D respectively). Let $(\omega, t) \in D$. Then $G(\omega, t) < +\infty$, consequently $t \in Y(\omega), \omega \in \Omega_0$, and

$$(3.17) H(\omega, t) - H(\omega, \xi(\omega)) = G(\omega, t) \leq G(\omega, s) = = H(\omega, s) - H(\omega, \xi(\omega)), s \in Y(\omega).$$

hence $H(\omega, t) \leq H(\omega, s)$ for $s \in Y(\omega)$, that is, $(\omega, t) \in Q$. Conversely, if $(\omega, t) \in Q$, then $t \in Y(\omega)$, $\omega \in \Omega_0$, and for any $s \in Y(\omega)$

$$+\infty > G(\omega, t) = H(\omega, t) - H(\omega, \xi(\omega)) \leqslant H(\omega, s) - H(\omega, \xi(\omega)) = G(\omega, s).$$

For $s \notin Y(\omega)$ we have $G(\omega, s) = +\infty$ and consequently the inequality $G(\omega, t) \leq G(\omega, s)$ holds for all $s \in T$. Hence we conclude that $(\omega, t) \in D$. The lemma is proved.

Lemma 3.5. Let \mathcal{G} be a σ -subalgebra of \mathcal{F} and let $\Gamma \in \mathcal{F}$. A set A belongs to the σ -algebra $\mathcal{G}|_{\Gamma} \times \mathcal{F}$ if and only if

$$(3.18) A = [A' \cap (\Gamma \times T)] \cup [A'' \cap (\Gamma^c \times T)],$$

where $A' \in \mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{F}$, $A'' \in \mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{F}$ and $\Gamma^e = \Omega \setminus \Gamma$.

Proof. From the definition of the σ -algebra $\mathcal{G} \mid_{\Gamma}$ (see §3.4) it consists of those events Δ for which

$$(3.19) \qquad \Delta = (\Delta' \cap \Gamma) \cup (\Delta'' \cap \Gamma'), \quad \Delta' \in \mathcal{G}, \quad \Delta'' \in \mathcal{F}.$$

We consider the class \mathcal{H} of sets A of the form (3.18). This class is a σ -algebra. It contains all sets $\Delta \times B$, where $B \in \mathcal{F}$ and Δ has the form (3.19), consequently, \mathcal{H} contains $\mathcal{G}|_{\Gamma} \times \mathcal{F}$. Conversely, the classes

$$\mathcal{M}_{1} = \{ A' \in \mathcal{G} \times \mathcal{F} : A' \cap (\Gamma \times T) \in \mathcal{G} \mid_{\Gamma} \times \mathcal{F} \},$$
$$\mathcal{M}_{2} = \{ A' \in \mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{F} : A' \cap (\Gamma^{c} \times T) \in \mathcal{G} \mid_{\Gamma} \times \mathcal{F} \}$$

are σ -algebras, and for $\Delta' \in \mathcal{G}$, $\Delta'' \in \mathcal{F}$, $B \in \mathcal{T}$:

$$A' = \Delta' \times B \in \mathscr{M}_{1}, \quad A'' = \Delta'' \times B \in \mathscr{M}_{2}.$$

Consequently, $\mathscr{M}_1 \supseteq \mathscr{G} \times \mathscr{F}, \ \mathscr{M}_2 \supseteq \mathscr{F} \times \mathscr{F}$ and so $\mathscr{H} \subseteq \mathscr{G} \mid_{\Gamma} \times \mathscr{F}.$

3.7. Proof of Theorem 3.2. 1) The relation (3.13) can be obtained by applying Lemma 3.4 to the measurable spaces $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}_i^Z(a, b))$, (T, \mathcal{T}) , and the functional $H(\omega, t)$, $t \in Y(\omega)$, where $H(\omega, t) = F(\omega, t)$ and $Y(\omega) = Z(\omega) \cap M_i(a, b)$. This lemma is indeed applicable in the situation considered here, since the measurability condition for $H(\omega, t, s)$ follows directly from the definition of the weak local property of $F(\omega, t)$, $t \in Z(\omega)$, and the sets in (3.13) and (3.15) coincide. Moreover, the space $(\Omega, \mathcal{A}_i^Z(a, b))$ is complete with respect to the measure P, since $\mathcal{A}_i^Z(a, b) \cong \mathcal{N}(\mathcal{F})$ and the σ -algebra \mathcal{F} is complete.

2) To show that $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ is weakly local we fix $a \leq b$ and note that if for some ω the intersection $\overline{Z}(\omega) \cap M_i(a, b)$ is non-empty, then for this ω

(3.20)
$$\overline{Z}(\omega) \bigcap M_i(a, b) = \overline{Z}_i(\omega, a, b).$$

In fact, if $t \in M_i = M_i(a, b)$, $t \in Z(\omega)$, and t minimizes $F = F(\omega, \cdot)$ on $Z = Z(\omega)$, then, of course, t minimizes F on $Z \cap M_i$. Conversely, if we know that $\overline{Z} \cap M_i \neq \emptyset$, that is, F has a minimum on Z at some point $s \in Z \cap M_i$, then any point $t \in Z \cap M_i$ realizing the minimum of F on $Z \cap M_i$ will also realize the minimum of F on Z.

Next, we note that

(3.21)
$$\Delta \equiv \{(\omega, t): t \in \overline{Z}_i (\omega, a, b)\} \subseteq \Omega_i \times T,$$

where

$$(3.22) \quad \Omega_i = \{ \omega \colon Z(\omega) \cap M_i \neq \emptyset \} \supseteq \{ \omega \colon \overline{Z}(\omega) \cap M_i \neq \emptyset \} = \overline{\Omega}_i \in \overline{\mathcal{F}}.$$

As we established in 1), $\Delta \in \mathcal{A}_i^z(a, b) \times \mathcal{F}$. Consequently, by (3.21) and Lemma 3.5, Δ can be represented in the form

$$\Delta = \Delta' \cap (\Omega_i \times T), \quad \Delta' \in \mathcal{A}_i (a, b) \times \mathcal{T}.$$

Hence from (3.20) and (3.22) we find that

$$\{(\omega, t): t \in \overline{Z}(\omega) \cap M_i\} = \Delta \cap (\overline{\Omega}_i \times T) = \Delta' \cap (\overline{\Omega}_i \times T), \quad \Delta' \in \mathcal{A}_i (a, b) \times \mathcal{F},$$

which in view of Lemma 3.5 leads us to the desired result:

$$\{(\omega, t): t \in \overline{Z}(\omega) \cap M_i\} \in \mathcal{A}_i^Z(a, b) \times \mathcal{F}.$$

3.8. Proof of Theorem 3.1. We fix $a \le b$ and $\mathcal{F} \ni D \subseteq [a, b]$. Because F is a sufficient functional, from Proposition 3.1 we get

$$A = \{ \omega \colon Z(\omega) \cap D \neq \emptyset \} = A_1 \cap A_2,$$

where

$$A_i = \{\omega: \ \overline{Z}_i (\omega, a, b) \cap D \neq \emptyset\} = \operatorname{pr}_{\mathbf{Q}}\{\omega, t\}: \ t \in \overline{Z}_i (\omega, a, b) \cap D\} \in \mathcal{A}_i^{\mathbb{Z}}(a, b)$$

as a result of assertion 1) of Theorem 3.2 and Lemma 3.1. This means that $A_i = A_i \cap \Omega_i = A'_i \cap \Omega_i$, where $A'_i \in \mathcal{A}_i(a, b)$ (see (3.22)). Thus, $A = A_1 \cap A_2 = A_1 \cap A_2 \cap \{\omega: Z(\omega) \cap D \neq \emptyset\} =$ $= A'_1 \cap A'_2 \cap \Omega_1 \cap \Omega_2 \cap \{\omega: Z(\omega) \cap D \neq \emptyset\} =$ $= A'_1 \cap A'_2 \cap \{\omega: Z(\omega) \cap D \neq \emptyset\} =$

since $Z(\omega) \cap D \neq \emptyset$ implies that $Z(\omega) \cap M \neq \emptyset$ (because $M_i(a, b) \supseteq \supseteq [a, b] \supseteq D$). It remains to observe that

$$A = A'_1 \cap A'_2 \cap \{\omega: Z(\omega) \cap D \neq \emptyset\} \in \mathcal{A}_1(a, b) \mathcal{A}_2(a, b)$$

because $Z(\omega)$ is a splitting random set.

3.9. To conclude this section, drawing on Lemma 3.1 (which is valid under condition 3.A) we prove the following result.

Proposition 3.2. Let a set $Z(\omega) \subseteq T$ correspond to each $\omega \in \Omega$. If $Z(\omega)$ is weakly local, then $Z(\omega)$ is a random set. If $Z(\omega)$ is local, then $Z(\omega)$ is a splitting random set.

Proof. To show that $Z(\omega)$ is a random set it is enough to prove (3.1) for any set $D \in \mathcal{T}$ contained in some interval $[a, b] \subseteq T$. (Each $D \in \mathcal{T}$ is a countable union of such sets.)

Let $\overline{\mathcal{T}} \in D \subseteq [a, b]$. Then by (M2) the set $\Gamma = \{\omega: Z(\omega) \cap D \neq \emptyset\}$ can be represented in the form

 $\Gamma = \operatorname{pr}_{\Omega} \{ (\omega, t) \colon t \in Z(\omega) \cap M_1(a, b) \cap D \}.$

If $Z(\omega)$ is weakly local, then $\Gamma \in \mathcal{A}_i^z(a, b) \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ from (3.11) and Lemma 3.1. If $Z(\omega)$ is local, then from (3.9) and Lemma 3.1 we get $\Gamma \in \mathcal{A}_1(a, b)$, which necessarily gives (3.2).

§4. Constructions of splitting elements based on the solution of extremal problems

4.1. Drawing on the results of the previous section, we prove some general theorems on the construction of splitting random elements. The constructions presented here are based on arguments contained in $\S 3.2$.

Let Z be a \mathcal{T} -measurable subset of T, and $F_m(\omega, t), t \in Z$ (m = 1, 2, ...)a sequence of local functionals with (non-random) domain Z. We assume that for each ω the functionals $\{F_m(\omega, \cdot)\}$ separate points of Z, that is, for any $t, s \in Z, t \neq s$, there is an m such that $F_m(\omega, t) \neq F_m(\omega, s)$. Next, we assume that a Hausdorff topology is given on Z, and with respect to it all functionals $F_m(\omega, \cdot)$ are lower semicontinuous and all sets of the form $Z \cap [a, b]$ $(a, b \in T)$ are closed.

Let $Z_0(\omega) \subseteq Z$ be a local random set, non-empty and compact for all ω . We define by induction the sequence of sets $Z_0(\omega)$, $Z_1(\omega)$, $Z_2(\omega)$, ..., denoting by $Z_m(\omega)$ the set of minimum points of $F_m(\omega, t)$ on $Z_{m-1}(\omega)$. We assume that for all *m* the restriction $H_m(\omega, t)$ of $F_m(\omega, t)$ to $Z_{m-1}(\omega)$ is a sufficient functional. **Theorem 4.1.** For every ω the intersection $Z_0(\omega) \cap Z_1(\omega) \cap ...$ consists of one element $\tau(\omega)$, which is weakly local and splitting.

4.2. The proof of Theorem 4.1 is based on the following lemma.

Lemma 4.1. Let $Z(\omega)$ be a local set, where for any interval [a, b]

(4.1)
$$\{\omega: Z(\omega) \cap [a, b] \neq \emptyset\} \in \mathcal{A}_1(a, b) \mathcal{A}_2(a, b).$$

Then $Z(\omega)$ is a splitting random set.

Proof. If $\mathcal{F} \ni D \subseteq [a, b]$, then

(4.2)
$$\{\omega: Z(\omega) \cap D \neq \emptyset\} = \{\omega: Z(\omega) \cap [a, b] \neq \emptyset\} \cap B, \\ B = \{\omega: Z(\omega) \cap M_1(a, b) \cap D \neq \emptyset\},$$

since $D \subseteq [a, b] \subseteq M_1(a, b)$. Moreover,

$$B = \operatorname{pr}_{\Omega} \{ (\omega, t) \colon t \in Z(\omega) \cap M_1(a, b) \cap D \} \in \mathcal{A}_1^Z(a, b),$$

drawing on the fact that $Z(\omega)$ is weakly local and on Lemma 3.1. Consequently,

 $B = B_1 \cap \{\omega: Z(\omega) \cap M_1(a, b) \neq \emptyset\}$, where $B_1 \in \mathcal{A}_1(a, b)$.

Applying the relation $[a, b] \subseteq M_1(a, b)$, we conclude that in (4.2) B can be replaced by B_1 , and together with (4.1) this gives (3.2).

4.3. Proof of Theorem 4.1. For each ω the sets $Z_m(\omega)$ (m = 1, 2, ...) are non-empty, compact, and form a chain, consequently their intersection is non-empty. It has only one element, since if $t, s \in Z(\omega) \subseteq Z_m(\omega)$, then

$$F_m(\omega, s) = \min \{F_m(\omega, u), u \in Z_{m-1}(\omega)\} = F_m(\omega, t),$$

which means that t = s, since the functionals $\{F_m(\omega, \cdot)\}$ separate points.

We prove by induction that $Z_m(\omega)$ is a weakly local splitting random set for any m. For m = 0 this is a consequence of Proposition 3.2. Let it be true for m-1. Then the functional $H_m(\omega, t) = F_m(\omega, t), t \in Z_{m-1}(\omega)$, is weakly local, since for any $r \in R^1$ and any [a, b]

$$\{(\omega, t, s): F_{m}(\omega, t) - F_{m}(\omega, s) \leq r, t, s \in \mathbb{Z}_{m-1}(\omega) \cap M_{i}(a, b)\} \in \mathcal{A}_{i}^{\mathbb{Z}_{m-1}}(a, b) \times \mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{F}$$

because $F_m(\omega, t)$, $t \in Z$, is local and $Z_{m-1}(\omega)$ is weakly local. Using assertion 2) of Theorem 3.2 we conclude that $Z_m(\omega)$ is weakly local in view of the fact that $H_m(\omega, t)$, $t \in Z_{m-1}(\omega)$, is sufficient and $Z_m(\omega)$ are splitting random sets by Theorem 3.1.

Now we show that $Z(\omega) = \{\tau(\omega)\}$ is a weakly local splitting random set. We fix $a \le b$, i = 1, 2, and note that

$$\{\omega: Z(\omega) \cap M_i(a, b) \neq \emptyset\} \subseteq \{\omega: Z_m(\omega) \cap M_i(a, b) \neq \emptyset\},\$$

consequently $\mathcal{A}_i^{Z_m}(a, b) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_i^{Z}(a, b)$. Therefore, because $Z_m(\omega)$ is weakly local,

$$\Gamma_m = \{ (\omega, t) \colon t \in Z_m(\omega) \cap M_i(a, b) \} \in \mathcal{A}_i^2(a, b) \times \mathcal{T}.$$

Hence

$$\{(\omega, t): t \in Z(\omega) \cap M_i(a, b)\} = \bigcap_{m=1}^{\infty} \Gamma_m \in \mathcal{A}_i^Z(a, b) \times \mathcal{F}$$

that is, $Z(\omega)$ is weakly local. Next, since $Z_m(\omega)$ are compact sets forming a chain and the interval $[a, b] \cap Z$ is closed, we have

$$\{\omega: Z(\omega) \cap [a, b] \neq \emptyset\} = \bigcap_{m=1}^{\infty} \{\omega: Z_m(\omega) \cap [a, b] \neq \emptyset\} \in \mathcal{A}_1(a, b) \mathcal{A}_2(a, b),$$

where the last relation is valid since $Z_m(\omega)$ are splitting random sets for all m. To complete the proof of the theorem it remains to refer to Lemma 4.1.

4.4. Theorem 4.2. Let $Z(\omega)$ be a splitting random set, let $F(\omega, t)$, $t \in Z(\omega)$, be a weakly local sufficient functional, and let $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ be the set of minimum points of $F(\omega, \cdot)$ on $Z(\omega)$. If for each ω the partially ordered set $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ contains its greatest lower bound $\tau(\omega) = \inf \overline{Z}(\omega)$, then $\tau(\omega)$ is a weakly local splitting random element.

Before we prove this theorem we establish two auxiliary propositions.

Proposition 4.1. Let Z be a subset of T and F(t), $t \in Z$, a real functional (F and Z are non-random). Let the functional F be monotone, that is, $F(t) \leq F(s)$ for $t \leq s$, and let the set Z be directed to the left, that is, for any $t, s \in Z$ there is a $v \in Z$ such that $v \leq t$ and $v \leq s$. Then the functional $F(t), t \in Z$, is sufficient.

Proof. Suppose that for some $t \in Z$ the inequalities (3.4) hold. We take an arbitrary $s \in Z$ and consider $v \in Z$ such that $v \leq t$, $v \leq s$. From condition (M4) (see §3.3) we get $v \in M_i(t, t)$ for some i = 1, 2. Then $F(v) \ge F(t)$ because of (3.4), and $F(s) \ge F(v) \ge F(t)$ because F is monotone, that is, t is a minimum point for F, as required.

Proposition 4.2. Let $T_0 \in \mathcal{T}$ and let $\varphi(t)$, $t \in T_0$, be a \mathcal{T} -measurable functional independent of ω . If $Z(\omega) \subseteq T_0$ is a local (respectively, weakly local) set, then the restriction of $\varphi(t)$ to $Z(\omega)$ is a local (respectively, weakly local) functional.

Proof. This is true because for any $r \in \mathbb{R}^1$, i = 1, 2, and $a \leq b$ the set

$$\{(\omega, t, s): \varphi(t) - \varphi(s) \leqslant r, t, s \in Z(\omega) \cap M_i(a, b)\}$$

belongs to the σ -algebra $\mathcal{A}_i(a, b) \times \mathcal{T} \times \mathcal{T}$ or $\mathcal{A}_i^{\mathbb{Z}}(a, b) \times \mathcal{T} \times \mathcal{T}$, depending on whether $Z(\omega)$ is local or weakly local.

Proof of Theorem 4.2. By Theorem 3.1 $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ is a splitting random set and it is weakly local by Theorem 3.2. Let $\Phi(t)$, $t \in \overline{Z}(\omega)$, be the restriction to $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ of the strictly monotone \mathcal{F} -measurable functional $\varphi(t)$, $t \in T$, constructed in Remark 1.3. By Proposition 4.2 the functional $\Phi(t)$, $t \in \overline{Z}(\omega)$, is weakly local and by Proposition 4.1 it is sufficient, since for each ω the set $\overline{Z}(\omega)$, which contains its infimum, is left directed. Thus we can apply Theorems 3.1 and 3.2 to $\Phi(t)$, $t \in \overline{Z}(\omega)$, from which it follows that the set of minimum points of $\Phi(t)$ on $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ is splitting and weakly local. But since $\varphi(t)$ is strictly monotone, this set consists of the unique point $\tau(\omega)$, which proves the theorem.

4.5. We discuss the conditions of Theorem 4.2.

The set $Z(\omega)$ is splitting in each of the following cases: a) Z does not depend on ω ; b) $Z(\omega)$ is local; c) $Z(\omega)$ is weakly local and has the property (4.1). The case b) is considered in Proposition 3.2, and c) in Lemma 4.1.

We now list some conditions under which (for any ω) the functional $F(\omega, t), t \in Z(\omega)$, is sufficient and the set $\overline{Z}(\omega)$ contains its infimum.

Proposition 4.3. Let $M_i(a, b)$ be regular zones, that is, given by the relation (3.3). Let Z be a subset of T and F(t) a functional on Z satisfying the following conditions:

1) for any t, $s \in Z$ there exist an infimum $t \land s \in Z$ and a supremum $t \lor s \in Z$ (the partially ordered set Z is a lattice);

2) for all t, $s \in Z$ the inequality

(4.3)
$$F(t \wedge s) + F(t \vee s) \leqslant F(t) + F(s)$$

holds (the functional F is submodular, see [9]).

Then the functional F(t), $t \in Z$, is sufficient and the set \overline{Z} of its minimum points is closed under the operations \wedge and $\bigvee (\overline{Z} \text{ is a sublattice of the}$ lattice Z). If, moreover, F is lower semicontinuous with respect to some Hausdorff topology on Z, Z is compact, and all the sets $\{s \in Z: s \leq t\}$, $t \in Z$, are closed, then \overline{Z} is non-empty and contains its infimum.

Proof. We consider $t \in Z$ such that (3.4) holds and we take any $s \in Z$. Since $t \land s \in \{t': t' \leq t\} = M_1(t, t)$ and $t \lor s \in \{t': t' \geq t\} = M_2(t, t)$, from (3.4) we have

(4.4)
$$F(t) \leqslant F(t \land s), \quad F(t) \leqslant F(t \lor s),$$

and so

$$F(s) \ge F(t \lor s) + F(t \land s) - F(t) \ge F(t)$$

by (4.3) and (4.4). Consequently t is a minimum point of F, which means that F is sufficient.

Next, if $u, v \in \overline{Z}$, then $F(u) \leq F(u \lor v)$ and $F(v) \leq F(u \land v)$, but, on the other hand, $F(u) + F(v) \geq F(u \land v) + F(u \lor v)$. Hence

$$F(u) = F(v) = F(u \land v) = F(u \lor v)$$

and consequently $u \lor v \in \overline{Z}$, $u \land v \in \overline{Z}$, that is, \overline{Z} is a sublattice of Z.

If F is lower semicontinuous and Z is compact, then \overline{Z} is compact and non-empty. For any $t \in \overline{Z}$ the set $A(t) = \{s \in \overline{Z} : s \leq t\}$ is compact, and for any $t_1, t_2, ..., t_k \in \overline{Z}$ the intersection

$$A(t_1) \cap A(t_2) \cap \ldots \cap A(t_k)$$

is non-empty: it contains $t_1 \wedge t_2 \wedge \ldots \wedge t_k$, since \overline{Z} is a sublattice of Z. Consequently the intersection $A = \cap A(t)$, where t runs through \overline{Z} , is also non-empty. It is clear that A consists of only one element inf \overline{Z} .

4.6. We note that the series of conditions we assumed previously to be satisfied for all $\omega \in \Omega$ can be replaced by similar conditions satisfied for almost all ω . Thus, for example, Theorem 4.2 admits the following modification.

Theorem 4.3. Let $Z(\omega)$ be a splitting random set and let $F(\omega, t)$, $t \in Z(\omega)$, be a weakly local functional. Suppose that there exists $\Omega^0 \in \mathcal{F}$ such that $P(\Omega^0) = 0$ and for each $\omega \in \Omega \setminus \Omega^0$ the following conditions are satisfied: a) the functional $F(\omega, t)$ is sufficient in $t \in Z(\omega)$; b) the set of all minimum points of $F(\omega, t)$ on $Z(\omega)$ contains its infimum. If some $\tau(\omega) \in T$ coincides with this infimum almost everywhere, then $\tau(\omega)$ is a weakly local splitting random set.

Proof. We fix an arbitrary $a_0 \in T$ and we put $Z'(\omega) = \{a_0\}, F'(\omega, a_0) = 0$ for $\omega \in \Omega^0$ and $Z'(\omega) = Z(\omega), F'(\omega, t) = F(\omega, t)$ for $\omega \in \Omega^1 \equiv \Omega \setminus \Omega^0$. Since all σ -algebras considered on Ω contain, $f'(\overline{r})$, then $Z'(\omega)$ is a splitting random set (see (3.2)) and for any $a \leq b$, i = 1, 2 we have $\mathcal{A}_i^Z(a, b) =$ $= \mathcal{A}_i^{Z'}(a, b) \ni \Omega^0, \Omega^1$. Next, the set

$$W(\omega) = \{(t, s): F'(\omega, t) - F'(\omega, s) \leq r, t, s \in M_i(a, b) \cap Z'(\omega)\}$$

 $(r \in \mathbb{R}^1)$ coincides for $\omega \in \Omega^1$ with the similar set for the functional $F(\omega, t), t \in Z(\omega)$, and for $\omega \in \Omega^0$ it is either empty or consists of the point (a_0, a_0) . Hence $\{(\omega, t, s): (t, s) \in W(\omega)\}$ belongs to $\mathcal{A}_i^{Z'}(a, b) \times \mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{F}$, that is, $F'(\omega, t), t \in Z'(\omega)$, is weakly local. Hence this functional satisfies all the conditions of Theorem 4.2, from which the required assertion follows.

Thus, the formulations "for all ω " and "for almost all ω " are practically equivalent here. This is connected with the fact that in passing from the first to the second it is sufficient to consider at most a countable family of excluded sets. In the next section there appear, generally speaking, uncountable families of sets of measure zero, which require more precise handling.

§5. Random change of variables

5.1. In this section we consider the transformations of Markov models connected with splitting random elements. These transformations are analogous to the random change of time, whose various versions are known in the theory of random processes.

Let a Markov continuous stochastic model $\mathfrak{A} = \{\mathcal{A}_i(a, b)\}$ be given (see §1). Moreover, let us consider a partially ordered set (S, \leq) and let a random element $\tau_s(\omega) \in T$ correspond to each $s \in S$. We say that $\{\tau_s\}_{s \in S}$ is a monotone family of random elements if for any $a \leq b$ $(a, b \in S)$ the inequality $\tau_a \leq \tau_b$ holds (almost surely (a.s.)).

With each pair $\alpha(\omega)$, $\beta(\omega)$ satisfying $\alpha(\omega) \leq \beta(\omega)$ a.s. we associate o-algebras $\mathcal{A}_i(\alpha, \beta)$ (i=1, 2, 3) by putting $\mathcal{A}_i(\alpha, \beta) = \mathcal{A}_i(\alpha', \beta')$, where α' and β' are arbitrary random elements such that $\alpha'(\omega) \leq \beta'(\omega)$ for all ω and $\alpha = \alpha'$, $\beta = \beta'$ a.s. It is clear that the definition of $\mathcal{A}_i(\alpha, \beta)$ does not depend on the choice of variants α' and β' (see §1.4).

Theorem 5.1. Let $\{\tau_s\}_{s\in S}$ be a monotone family of weakly local splitting random elements. Then the σ -algebras

(5.1)
$$\mathscr{B}_i(a, b) = \mathscr{A}_i(\tau_a, \tau_b) \quad (i = 1, 2, 3, a \leq b)$$

define a Markov stochastic model \mathfrak{B} on the space (S, \leq) . If the initial model \mathfrak{A} is regular, then \mathfrak{B} is also regular.

5.2. The proof of Theorem 5.1 will be preceded by some lemmas.

Lemma 5.1. The following statements are equivalent:

(a) $\gamma(\omega)$ is a weakly local random element;

(b) for any $D \in \mathcal{T}$, $a \leq b$ (i = 1, 2),

$$\{\omega: \gamma(\omega) \in D \cap M_i(a, b)\} = \Gamma \cap \{\omega: \gamma(\omega) \in M_i(a, b)\} \in \mathcal{F},\$$

where Γ is some event from $\mathcal{A}_i(a, b)$.

Proof. Let the condition (b) be fulfilled, which is equivalent to the requirement:

(5.2)
$$\Delta_D = \{\omega; \gamma(\omega) \in D \cap M_i(a, b)\} \in \mathcal{A}_i^{\{\gamma\}}(a, b).$$

We fix $a_0 \in T$ and put $\gamma_0(\omega) = \gamma(\omega)$ if $\gamma(\omega) \in M_i(a, b)$ and $\gamma_0(\omega) = a_0$ otherwise. From (5.2) it follows that the map γ_0 is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{A}_i^{(\gamma)}(a, b)$, which means that its graph is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{A}_i^{(\gamma)}(a, b) \times \overline{\gamma}$ (see Remark 1.2). Therefore,

$$\{(\omega, t): t = \gamma(\omega) \in M_i(a, b)\} = \{(\omega, t): t = \gamma_0(\omega), \gamma(\omega) \in M_i(a, b)\} \in \mathcal{A}_i^{(\gamma)}(a, b) \times \mathcal{F},$$

which gives (a). Conversely, from the fact that γ is weakly local and Lemma 3.1 we deduce that

$$\Delta_{D} = \operatorname{pr}_{\Omega} \{ (\omega, t) \colon t = \gamma(\omega) \in M_{i}(a, b) \cap D \} \in \mathcal{A}_{i}^{(\gamma)}(a, b)$$

Lemma 5.2. Let $[\alpha(\omega), \beta(\omega)]$ be a random interval and $\gamma(\omega)$ a weakly local random element such that $\gamma(\omega) \in [\alpha(\omega), \beta(\omega)]$. Then for any $D \in \mathcal{F}$

(5.3)
$$\{\omega: \gamma(\omega) \in D\} \in \mathcal{A}_1(\alpha, \beta) \cap \mathcal{A}_2(\alpha, \beta).$$

Proof. For any k = 1, 2, ... the event $\{\gamma \in D\}$ can be represented as a countable union of the events of the form

$$\{\gamma \in D, f_k(\alpha) = p, g_k(\beta) = q\}$$
 $(p \in f_k(T), q \in g_k(T)).$

For any i = 1, 2 each of them, in turn, admits a representation in the form

(5.4)
$$\Delta \equiv \{\gamma \in D \cap M_i(p, q)\} \cap \{f_k(\alpha) = p, g_k(\beta) = q\},\$$

since the relations $f_k(\alpha) = p$, $g_k(\beta) = q$ imply that

(5.5)
$$\gamma \in [\alpha, \beta] \subseteq [p, q] \subseteq M_i(p, q).$$

Now by Lemma 5.1 and (5.5)

$$\Delta = \Gamma \cap \{\gamma \in M_i(p, q)\} \cap \{f_k(\alpha) = p, g_k(\beta) = q\} =$$

= $\Gamma \cap \{f_k(\alpha) = p, g_k(\beta) = q\}, \Gamma \in \mathcal{A}_i(p, q),$

which means that $\Delta \in \mathcal{A}_i^k(\alpha, \beta)$. Consequently, $\{\gamma \in D\} \in \mathcal{A}_i^k(\alpha, \beta)$ (k = 1, 2, ...), therefore, $\{\gamma \in D\} \in \mathcal{A}_i(\alpha, \beta)$ for any i = 1, 2, as required.

Lemma 5.3. Let $[\alpha(\omega), \beta(\omega)]$ and $[\alpha'(\omega), \beta'(\omega)]$ be two random intervals, where $[\alpha(\omega), \beta(\omega)] \subseteq [\alpha'(\omega), \beta'(\omega)]$ and α, β are weakly local. Then $\mathcal{A}_i(\alpha, \beta) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_i(\alpha', \beta')$ (i = 1, 2).

Proof. It is enough to prove that $\mathcal{A}_i^k(\alpha, \beta) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_i^k(\alpha', \beta')(k = 1, 2, ...)$. By Lemma 5.2 α and β are measurable with respect to $\mathcal{A}_i^k(\alpha', \beta')$ and we need only show that

$$\Xi = \{f_k(\alpha) = p, g_k(\beta) = q\} \cap \Gamma \in \mathcal{A}_i^k(\alpha', \beta')$$

whenever $\Gamma \in \mathcal{A}_i(p, q)$. We decompose Ξ into a countable union of events

$$(5.6) \qquad \Gamma \cap \{f_k(\alpha) = p, g_k(\beta) = q\} \cap \{f_k(\alpha') = p', g_k(\beta') = q'\},\$$

where $p' \in f_k(T)$, $q' \in g_k(T)$. We note that these events are non-empty only when $[p, q] \subseteq [p', q']$, since

$$p' \leqslant f_k(\alpha') \leqslant f_k(\alpha) \leqslant g_k(\beta) \leqslant g_k(\beta') = q'.$$

But if $[p, q] \subseteq [p', q']$, then $\Gamma \in \mathcal{A}_i(p, q) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_i(p', q')$. From this and Lemma 5.2 we conclude that each of the events (5.6) belongs to $\mathcal{A}_i^r(\alpha', \beta')$.

5.3. Proof of Theorem 5.1. We note that $\mathcal{A}_3(\gamma, \delta) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_1(\gamma, \delta) \cap \mathcal{A}_2(\gamma, \delta)$ for any random interval $[\gamma, \delta]$ (see (1.3)). Hence it follows that the family of σ -algebras (5.1) satisfies the condition 1.B.

We take $a' \leq a \leq b \leq b'$. Then $\tau_{a'} \leq \tau_a \leq \tau_b \leq \tau_{b'}$ (a.s.), and consequently there are random elements $\alpha', \alpha, \beta, \beta'$, such that $\alpha'(\omega) \leq \alpha(\omega) \leq \beta(\omega) \leq \beta'(\omega)$ for all ω , and $\alpha' = \tau_{a'}, \alpha = \tau_a, \beta = \tau_b$, $\beta' = \tau_{b'}$ (a.s.). As we see from Lemma 5.1, each of the random elements $\alpha', \alpha, \beta, \beta'$ is weakly local. Applying Lemma 5.3 to $[\alpha, \beta]$ and $[\alpha', \beta']$ we obtain

$$\mathcal{A}_{i}(\tau_{a}, \tau_{b}) = \mathcal{A}_{i}(\alpha, \beta) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_{i}(\alpha', \beta') = \mathcal{A}_{i}(\tau_{a'}, \tau_{b'}) \quad (i = 1, 2).$$

From this and the equality $\mathcal{A}_{\mathfrak{s}}(\tau_a, \tau_b) = \mathcal{A}_1(\tau_a, \tau_b) \cap \mathcal{A}_2(\tau_a, \tau_b)$ we get condition 1.A for the σ -algebras (5.2). This equality is a result of the conditional independence

$$\mathcal{A}_1(\tau_a, \tau_b) \amalg \mathcal{A}_2(\tau_a, \tau_b) \mid \mathcal{A}_3(\tau_a, \tau_b),$$

which we prove now.

By Lemma 2.3 and the equality $\mathcal{A}_i(\tau_a, \tau_b) = \mathcal{A}_i(\alpha, \beta)$ (i = 1, 2, 3) it is enough to prove that any event of the form $\Lambda = \{f_k(\alpha) = p, g_k(\beta) = q\}$ belongs to $\mathcal{A}_1(p, q)\mathcal{A}_2(p, q)$. Since α and β are splitting, this follows from the relation $\Lambda = \{\alpha \in D_1\} \cap \{\beta \in D_2\}$, where

$$D_1 = \{t \in [p, q]: f_k(t) = p\}, \quad D_2 = \{t \in [p, q]: g_k(t) = q\}.$$

We assume now that the model \mathfrak{A} is regular. We need to prove the equalities $\mathcal{A}_1(\alpha, \beta) = \mathcal{A}_1(\beta, \beta)$, $\mathcal{A}_2(\alpha, \beta) = \mathcal{A}_2(\alpha, \alpha)$. We verify the first (the second can be verified similarly). It is sufficient to check that the event

(5.7)
$$\Delta = \{\alpha \in D\} \cap \{f_k(\alpha) = a, g_k(\beta) = b\} \cap \Gamma$$

belongs to the σ -algebra $\mathcal{A}_1^h(\beta, \beta)$ for any $k = 1, 2, ..., D \in \mathcal{F}$, $a \leq b$, and $\Gamma \in \mathcal{A}_1(a, b)$. Namely, events of the form (5.7) and the random element β generate $\mathcal{A}_1^h(\alpha, \beta)$, hence $\mathcal{A}_1^h(\alpha, \beta) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_1^h(\beta, \beta)$ and consequently $\mathcal{A}_1(\alpha, \beta) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_1(\beta, \beta)$. The reverse inclusion holds, by Lemma 5.3. Since $\Delta \subseteq \{\alpha \in [a, b]\} \subseteq \{\alpha \in M_1(a, b)\}$, we have

$$\Delta = \{\alpha \in D \cap M_1(a, b)\} \cap \{f_k(\alpha) = a\} \cap \{g_k(\beta) = b\} \cap \Gamma.$$

Applying Lemma 5.1 to the random element α and to the set $D' = D \cap \{t: f_k(t) = a\}$, we find that there is a $\Gamma_1 \in \mathcal{A}_1(a, b)$ for which

$$\Delta = \Gamma_1 \cap \{ \alpha \in M_1(a, b) \} \cap \{ g_k(\beta) = b \} \cap \Gamma.$$

Here $\{g_k(\beta) = b\} \subseteq \{\alpha \in M_1(a, b)\} = \{\alpha \leq b\}$ (see (3.3)), and consequently

$$\Delta = \bigcup_{b \ge c \in f_k(T)} \{ f_k(\beta) = c, g_k(\beta) = b \} \cap \Gamma_i \cap \Gamma \in \mathcal{A}_i^k(\beta, \beta),$$

since $\Gamma_1 \cap \Gamma \in \mathcal{A}_1(a, b) = \mathcal{A}_1(c, b)$ for any $c \leq b$.

5.4. In the theorem given below we can see, in particular, the way of constructing families of random elements $\{\tau_s\}$ described in Theorem 5.1.

Theorem 5.2. Let the relevant Markov model \mathfrak{A} be regular. For every $s \in S$, suppose we are given a splitting random set ${}^{s}Z(\omega) \subseteq T$ and a weakly local functional ${}^{s}F(\omega, t), t \in {}^{s}Z(\omega)$, and suppose that for any $a, b, s \in S$ ($a \leq b$) and for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$ the following conditions are fulfilled:

a) a set $W(\omega, a, b) \subseteq T$ can be found such that it is a lattice (in the sense of the partial ordering \leq given on T) and the sets ${}^{a}Z(\omega)$ and ${}^{b}Z(\omega)$ are sublattices of it;

b) for any $u \in {}^{a}Z(\omega)$, $v \in {}^{b}Z(\omega)$ we have $u \wedge v \in {}^{o}Z(\omega)$. $u \vee v \in {}^{b}Z(\omega)$, and

$$(5.8) \qquad {}^{a}F(\omega, u \wedge v) + {}^{b}F(\omega, u \vee v) \leqslant {}^{a}F(\omega, u) + {}^{b}F(\omega, v),$$

where \bigwedge and \bigvee are the lattice operations on $W(\omega, a, b)$;

c) the set ${}^{s}\overline{Z}(\omega)$ of minimum points of ${}^{s}F(\omega, t)$ on ${}^{s}Z(\omega)$ contains its infimum inf ${}^{s}\overline{Z}(\omega)$. If, for any $s \in S$ and $\omega \in \Omega$, $\tau_{s}(\omega)$ is an element of Tsuch that $\tau_{s}(\omega) = \inf {}^{s}\overline{Z}(\omega)$ almost everywhere, then $\{\tau_{s}\}_{s\in S}$ is a monotone family of weakly local splitting random elements, and the σ -algebras $\mathcal{A}_{i}(\tau_{a}, \tau_{b})$ ($a \leq b, a, b \in S, i = 1, 2, 3$) give a regular Markov model on the space (S, \leq) .

We recall that in regular models the condition of being weakly local is understood with respect to the zones $M_i(a, b)$ defined in (3.3).

Proof of Theorem 5.2. We denote by $\Omega^0(a, b, s) \in \mathscr{N}$ the set on which the hypotheses a)-c) are not fulfilled. From a) and b) it follows that for $s \in S$, $\omega \in \Omega^1 \equiv \Omega \setminus \Omega^0(s, s, s)$ the set ${}^{s}Z(\omega)$ is a lattice, and the functional ${}^{s}F(\omega, t)$ is submodular. Therefore, by Proposition 4.3, the functional ${}^{s}F(\omega, t)$, $t \in {}^{s}Z(\omega)$, is sufficient in t for $\omega \in \Omega^1$. Together with c) this allows us to use Theorem 4.3, from which we deduce that $\tau_s(\omega)$ is a weakly local splitting random element.

Now suppose that $a \leq b$. Then for almost all ω

$$\begin{aligned} \tau_a \wedge \tau_b \in {}^{a}Z, \quad \tau_a \vee \tau_b \in {}^{b}Z, \\ 0 \leqslant {}^{a}F (\tau_a \wedge \tau_b) - {}^{a}F (\tau_a) \leqslant {}^{b}F (\tau_b) - {}^{b}F (\tau_a \vee \tau_b) \leqslant 0 \end{aligned}$$

by b) and since $\tau_a \in {}^a\overline{Z}$, $\tau_b \in {}^b\overline{Z}$. Consequently, ${}^aF(\tau_a \land \tau_b) = {}^aF(\tau_a)$ and $\tau_a \land \tau_b \in {}^a\overline{Z}$. Hence $\tau_b \ge \tau_a \land \tau_b \ge \tau_a$, since $\tau_a = \inf {}^a\overline{Z}$. Thus, $\tau_b(\omega) \ge \tau_a(\omega)$ for almost all ω , that is, we have proved that the family $\{\tau_s\}$ is monotone.

§6. The strong Markov property of random fields on a Euclidean space

6.1. We say that an (ordinary) random field is given on the *d*-dimensional space R^d if to each $x \in R^d$ there corresponds a random element $\xi_x(\omega)$

 $(\omega \in \Omega)$ of some measurable space E_x . We say that a generalized random field is given on \mathbb{R}^d (see, for example, [3], [5]) if to each infinitely differentiable function φ with compact support, $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty} = C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, there corresponds a random element $\xi_{\varphi}(\omega)$ of a normed linear space V, where $\xi_{a_{\overline{v}}+b_{\overline{v}}} = a\xi_{\varphi} + b\xi_{\overline{v}}$ (a.s.) for all $a, b \in \mathbb{R}^1$, $\varphi, \psi \in C_0^{\infty}$, and $\xi_{\varphi_k} \to \xi_{\varphi}$ in probability whenever $\varphi_k \to \varphi$ in C_0^{∞} .

Let ξ be a random field (ordinary or generalized) and $u \subseteq R^d$ an open set. We denote by \mathscr{G}^u the σ -algebra $\sigma\{\xi_x, x \in u\}$ if $\xi = \xi_x, x \in R^d$, is an ordinary field or the σ -algebra $\sigma\{\xi_{\varphi}, \sup \varphi \subseteq u\}$ if $\xi = \xi_{\varphi}, \varphi \in C_0^{\infty}$, is a generalized field.⁽¹⁾ For any closed $t \subseteq R^d$ we put

(6.1)
$$\mathcal{F}^{t} = \bigcap_{\varepsilon > 0} \mathcal{G}^{t(\varepsilon)},$$

where $t(\varepsilon)$ is the ε -neighbourhood of t. Each σ -algebra \mathcal{F}^t describes the "realization of the field" on the corresponding closed set t (including its infinitesimal neighbourhood).

When considering random fields we will always assume that the following requirement is fulfilled:

$$(6.2) \qquad \qquad \mathscr{G}^{R^d} = \mathscr{F},$$

that is, the σ -algebra of all events is generated (mod 0) by the field ξ .

6.2. Everywhere in the sequel we denote by $T = T(R^d)$ the class of all compact sets $t \subseteq R^d$ that coincide with the closures of their interiors. We assume that $\phi \in T$. We recall that sets from the class T are called *compact domains* (following the terminology adopted, for instance, in [3] and [27] (vol. I, §8.VIII)) or, for brevity, simply domains.

We denote by \mathcal{T} the σ -algebra of subsets of T generated by the class of sets of the form $\{t \in T: t \subseteq u\}$, where u runs through all open subsets of \mathbb{R}^d . Random elements of the measurable space (T, \mathcal{T}) will be called *random domains*.

6.3. We say that a random field ξ is Markov with respect to the domain $t \in T$ if for any $a, b \in T, a \subseteq t \subseteq b$, the σ -algebras \mathcal{F}^b and $\mathcal{F}^{\widetilde{a}}$ are conditionally independent with respect to $\mathcal{F}^{\widetilde{a}\cap b}$. (As everywhere in this paper, the symbol \widetilde{a} denotes cl a^c , the closure of the complement of a.) A field ξ is called *Markov* if this property holds for all domains $t \in T$.

Various classes of random fields which are Markov in the above sense were considered in [3], [8], [23], [24], [28], [29], and other papers. Some equivalent formulations of the Markov property were used there, which we present in §6.11.

⁽¹⁾We recall that any σ -algebra of the form σ {•} (and all σ -subalgebras of \mathscr{F} considered here) contains, by definition, all events of zero probability, and the probability space (Ω, \mathscr{F}, P) is complete, see §1.

6.4. For $t \in T$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ we denote by $t [\varepsilon]$ the closure of the ε -neighbourhood $t(\varepsilon)$ of t. We also put

$$t(-\varepsilon) = \{x \in R^d: \rho(x, t^c) > \varepsilon\}$$

and $t [-\varepsilon] = cl t(-\varepsilon)$, where ρ is the Euclidean distance. With each $a \subseteq b$, $a, b \in T$, we associate the σ -algebras

(6.3)
$$\mathcal{A}_1(a, b) = \mathcal{F}^b, \quad \mathcal{A}_2(a, b) = \mathcal{F}^{\widetilde{a}}, \quad \mathcal{A}_3(a, b) = \mathcal{F}^{\widetilde{a} \cap b}.$$

Let α and β be two random domains such that $\alpha(\omega) \subseteq \beta(\omega)$. For any i = 1, 2, 3 we consider the σ -algebra $\mathcal{A}_i(\alpha, \beta)$ equal to the intersection over all $\varepsilon > 0$ of the σ -algebras $\mathcal{A}_i^{(\varepsilon)}(\alpha, \beta)$ generated by α, β , and the class of events of the form⁽¹⁾

$$(6.4) \ \{\alpha \ [-\varepsilon] \subseteq a\} \cap \{\beta \ [\varepsilon] \supseteq b\} \cap \Gamma, \ \Gamma \in \mathcal{A}_i(a, b), \ a. \ b \in T, \ a \subseteq b.$$

We call a field ξ strongly Markov with respect to the random domain τ if the σ -algebras $\mathcal{A}_1(\alpha, \beta)$ and $\mathcal{A}_2(\alpha, \beta)$ are conditionally independent with respect to $\mathcal{A}_3(\alpha, \beta)$ for all random domains α and β such that $\alpha(\omega) \subseteq \tau(\omega) \subseteq$ $\subseteq \beta(\omega)$ and $\alpha(\omega) = f(\tau(\omega)), \beta(\omega) = g(\tau(\omega))$, where $f, g: T \to T$ are measurable maps.

The σ -algebras $\mathcal{A}_1(\alpha, \beta)$, $\mathcal{A}_2(\alpha, \beta)$, and $\mathcal{A}_3(\alpha, \beta)$ that we have introduced describe the behaviour of the field on β , $\tilde{\alpha}$, and $\tilde{\alpha} \cap \beta$ respectively (including "infinitesimal neighbourhoods" of these sets) and contain, moreover, information about α and β . The above definition of these σ -algebras and the definitions of the strong Markov property related to them is the most

convenient formalization for our purposes of the notions presented in part 3 of the introduction.

6.5. A random domain τ will be called *splitting* if for any $a \subseteq b$, $a, b \in T$, and $D \in \mathcal{T}$, $D \subseteq \{t: a \subseteq t \subseteq b\}$, the event $\{\tau \in D\}$ can be represented in the form $\Gamma_1 \cap \Gamma_2$, where $\Gamma_i \in \mathcal{A}_i(a, b)$ (i = 1, 2).

Theorem 6.1. For a Markov field ξ to be strongly Markov with respect to a random domain τ it is necessary and sufficient that the random domain τ is splitting.

Now from a given field ξ we construct a stochastic model $\mathfrak{A}(\xi)$, and Theorem 6.1 will follow from the corresponding general result for Markov models, namely from Theorem 2.1.

In the space T of domains we introduce a partial ordering by putting $a \leq b$ if and only if $a \subseteq b$, and we define the σ -algebras $\mathcal{A}_i(a, b)$ $(i = 1, 2, 3, a \leq b)$ by (6.3), assuming moreover that $\mathcal{D} \subseteq b, b \in T$, and $\mathcal{F}^{\mathbb{Z}} = \sigma\{\mathcal{J}^{\mathbb{Z}}(\mathcal{F})\}, \mathcal{F}^{\mathbb{R}^d} = \mathcal{F}$ (see (6.2)). It is clear that $\mathfrak{A}(\xi) = \{\mathcal{A}_i(a, b)\}$ is a regular stochastic model and that this model is Markov if and only if the field ξ is Markov.

⁽¹⁾The fact that $\{\alpha[-\varepsilon] \subseteq a\}$ and $\{\beta[\varepsilon] \supseteq b\}$ are actually events will be rigorously proved in §6.8 (see Lemma 6.2).

A cube of order k (k = 1, 2, ...) is a set of the form

$$\{x = (x_1, x_2, \ldots, x_d) \in \mathbb{R}^d: n_j 2^{-k} \leq x_j \leq (n_j + 1) 2^{-k}\},\$$

where n_j (j = 1, 2, ..., d) are integers. We denote by $f_k(t)$ (respectively, $g_k(t)$) the union of the cubes of order k contained in int t (respectively, intersecting t).

Theorem 6.2. The family of maps $\mathcal{H} = \{f_k, g_k\}$ that we have constructed is a skeleton of the partially ordered measurable space of domains (T, \mathcal{T}, \leq) . The model $\mathfrak{A}(\xi)$ is continuous with respect to \mathcal{H} . The field ξ is strongly Markov with respect to the random domain τ if and only if the model $\mathfrak{A}(\xi)$ is strongly Markov with respect to τ .

6.6. We put aside for a while the proof of Theorem 6.2, and derive Theorem 6.1 from it now.

Proof of Theorem 6.1. Directly from the definitions it follows that τ is a splitting random domain if and only if τ is a splitting random element in $\mathfrak{A}(\xi)$. Therefore, to obtain Theorem 6.1 as a consequence of Theorems 2.1 and 6.2 we need only note that condition 2.A is always satisfied for $\mathfrak{A}(\xi)$.

Indeed, $f_k(t) \subseteq \text{int } t \subseteq g_k(t)$ for all $t \in T$, hence the open sets $v = R^d \setminus f_k(t)$ and $w = \text{int } g_k(t)$ give as a union the whole of R^d . Consequently, any function $\varphi \in C_0^\infty$ can be represented in the form $\varphi = \varphi_w + \varphi_v$, where $\sup \varphi_v \subseteq v$ and $\operatorname{supp} \varphi_w \subseteq w$. Hence $\xi_{\varphi} = \xi_{\varphi_v} + \xi_{\varphi_w}$ (a.s.), which means that the random variable ξ_{φ} is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{G}^v \vee \mathcal{G}^w$ (we recall that $\mathcal{N} \subseteq \mathcal{G}^v \vee \mathcal{G}^w$). Comparing this with (6.2), we find that

$$\mathcal{F} = \mathcal{G}^{\mathfrak{v}} \vee \mathcal{G}^{\mathfrak{v}} \subseteq \mathcal{F}^{f_{k}^{(t)}} \vee \mathcal{F}^{g_{k}^{(t)}} = \mathcal{F},$$

which is equivalent to condition 2.A for $\mathfrak{A}(\xi)$.

6.7. Before proving Theorem 6.2 we establish some lemmas.

Lemma 6.1. The family $\mathcal{F}_{t} = \{f_{k}, g_{k}\}$ described in §6.5 has the following property:

6.A. For any $t \in T$, $\varepsilon > 0$ there is a k such that $f_k(t) \supseteq t [-\varepsilon], t [\varepsilon] \supseteq g_k(t)$, and for any k there is an $\varepsilon' > 0$ such that $t [-\varepsilon] \supseteq f_k(t), t [\varepsilon] \subseteq g_k(t)$ for $0 < \varepsilon < \varepsilon'$.

Proof. The first two inclusions hold for k such that the diameter of the cube of order k is less than ε . The last two inclusions hold for any sufficiently small $\varepsilon > 0$, since $f_k(t) \subseteq \operatorname{int} t$ and $t \subseteq \operatorname{int} g_k(t)$.

6.8. For the rest of the paper it will be convenient to have some equivalent definitions of the σ -algebra \mathcal{T} . We denote by $\mathcal{T}_1, \ldots, \mathcal{T}_{10}$ the σ -algebras

of subsets of T generated by the following classes of sets and maps:

$$\begin{array}{ll} (\mathcal{F}_1) & \{t \in T : t \ni x\}, x \in R^d; \\ (\mathcal{F}_2) & \{t \in T : t \equiv s\}, s \in T; \\ (\mathcal{F}_3) & \{t \in T : t \supseteq s\}, s \in T; \\ (\mathcal{F}_5) & t \mapsto \rho(x, t), x \in R^d; \\ (\mathcal{F}_6) & t \mapsto \mathfrak{r}_H(s, t), s \in T \setminus \{\emptyset\}; \\ (\mathcal{F}_7) & t \mapsto f_k(t) & \{k = 1, 2, \ldots\}; \\ (\mathcal{F}_8) & t \mapsto t \mid \epsilon_k \mid (k = 1, 2, \ldots); \\ (\mathcal{F}_{10}) & t \mapsto t \mid -\epsilon_k \mid (k = 1, 2, \ldots). \end{array}$$

where ε_k is an arbitrary (but fixed) sequence of positive numbers tending to zero, f_k and g_k are the maps defined in §6.5, and

(6.5)
$$\tau_H(t, s) = \inf \{ \varepsilon > 0 : t \subseteq s(\varepsilon), s \subseteq t(\varepsilon) \}, t, s \in T \setminus \{ \emptyset \}.$$

is the Hausdorff metric.⁽¹⁾ For each j = 1, 2, ..., 10 we have the following result.

Lemma 6.2(j). $\mathcal{T}_j = \mathcal{T}$.

Proof (compare [25], [30]). Let B(x, r) (respectively, B[x, r]) be the open (respectively, closed) ball with radius r and centre at x. The fact that $\mathcal{F}_{I} \subseteq \mathcal{F}$ follows from the following assertions:

(U1)
$$\{t \not\ni x\} = \bigcup_{k=1}^{\infty} \{t \subseteq R^d \setminus B[x, 1/k]\};$$

$$(U2) {t \subseteq s} = \bigcap_k \{t \subseteq s (1/k)\};$$

$$(U3) \qquad \{t \supseteq s\} = \bigcap_{k} \{t \ni y_{k}\}; \quad (U4) \ \{t \cap s = \emptyset\} = \{t \subseteq s^{c}\};$$

(U5)
$$\{\rho(x, t) > r\} = \{t \subseteq R^d \setminus B[x, r]\}, r > 0;$$

$$(U6) \quad \{t: \ \mathfrak{r}_H(t, s) < r\} = \bigcup_{m=2}^{\infty} \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \left\{t: \ t \subseteq s\left(r - \frac{r}{m}\right)\right\}$$

$$\rho(y_h, t) < r-r/m$$
,

where $\{y_k\}$ is dense in s;

(U7) if $a \in f_k(T)$, then $f_k(t) = a$ if and only if $t \supseteq a[1/m]$ for some m = 1, 2, ... and $t \supseteq b[1/m]$ for any m and any cube b of order k not contained in a (see (U3));

(U8) if $b \in g_k(T)$, then $g_k(t) = b$ if and only if $t \subseteq int b$ and t intersects all cubes of order k forming b;

(U9)
$$\{t: t[\varepsilon] \subseteq u\} = \bigcup_{k} \bigcap_{m} \{t: \rho(x_m, t) > \varepsilon + 1/k\},\$$

where $\{x_m\}$ is a dense subset of the complement of the open set u (see (U5)):

$$(U10) \quad \{t: t [-\varepsilon] \subseteq u\} = \bigcup_{m=1}^{\infty} \bigcap_{x \in G(m, u)} \bigcap_{k=1}^{\infty} \{t: B[x, \varepsilon + 1/k] \not\subseteq t\},\$$

where G(m, u) is the set of rational points $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$ such that $B(x, 1/m) \nsubseteq u$ (see (U3)).

⁽¹⁾We put $\rho(x, \emptyset) = \mathfrak{r}_H(\mathfrak{s}, \emptyset) = +\infty$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $s \in T \setminus \{\emptyset\}$.

Next, we note that \mathcal{F} is generated by functions $t \mapsto \rho(x, t), x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, since for open u

$$\{t: t \subseteq u\} = \bigcup_{k \in m} \{t: \rho(x_m, t) > 1/k\},\$$

where $\{x_m\}$ is dense in $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus u$. To prove Lemma 6.2(*j*) it is sufficient to verify now that functions $t \mapsto \rho(x, t), x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, are measurable with respect to (j = 1, 2, ..., 10). For j = 6 this follows from the continuity of $\rho(x, t), t \in T \setminus \{\emptyset\}$, in the metric \mathbf{r}_H , and for the remaining *j* from the relations

$$\{\rho(t, x) < r\} = \bigcup_{m} \{t \ni y_{m}\}, \{y_{m}\} \subseteq B(x, r) \subseteq cl\{y_{m}\};$$

$$\{\rho(t, x) \ge r\} = \bigcup_{m} \{t \subseteq s_{m}\}, s_{m} = \{y: r \le \rho(y, x) \le m\};$$

$$\{\rho(t, x) < r\} = \bigcup_{m} \bigcup_{k} \{t \supseteq B[y_{m}, 1/k]\};$$

$$\{\rho(t, x) \le r\} = \{t \cap B[x, r] \neq \emptyset\};$$

 $\rho(x, t) = \inf_{k} \rho(x, f_k(t)) = \sup_{k} \rho(x, g_k(t)) = \sup_{k} \rho(x, t[\varepsilon_k]) = \inf_{k} \rho(x, t[-\varepsilon_k]).$

Remark 6.1. From the equality $\mathcal{T} = \mathcal{T}_6$ it follows that the restriction of \mathcal{T} to $T \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ coincides with the Borel σ -algebra on $T \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ associated with the metric \mathbf{r}_H .

6.9. Proof of Theorem 6.2. We verify the conditions (I)-(IV) formulated in §1, observing first that (T, \mathcal{F}, \leq) is a partially ordered measurable space, since by Lemma 6.2(1)

$$\{(t, s): t \not\cong s\} = \bigcup \{\{(t, s): x_k \in t\} \setminus \{(t, s): x_k \in s\}\} \in \mathcal{T} \times \mathcal{T}.$$

where t, $s \in T$ and $\{x_k\}$ is a countable set dense in \mathbb{R}^d .

We have $f_k(t) \subseteq t \subseteq g_k(t)$. Moreover, if $s \subseteq g_k(t)$ for all k, then by Lemma 6.1 $s \subseteq t$. Similarly, if $T \ni s \supseteq f_k(t)$ for all k, then $s \supseteq$ int t, hence $s \supseteq t$. Thus (II) has been established.

We note now that $f_k(t)$ is the union of the cubes of order k wholly contained in $f_{k+1}(t)$, and $g_k(t)$ is the union of the cubes of order k that contain at least one of the cubes forming $g_{k+1}(t)$. Consequently, $\mathcal{F}(f_k) \subseteq \mathcal{F}(f_{k+1}), \ \mathcal{F}(g_k) \not\subseteq \mathcal{F}(g_{k+1})$. Hence from Lemmas 6.2(7) and 6.2(8) we get (III).

It is clear that (IV) is satisfied and so $\mathscr{H} = \{f_k, g_k\}$ is a skeleton for $(T, \mathscr{T}, \leqslant)$. The continuity of $\mathfrak{A}(\xi)$ with respect to \mathscr{H} (see 1.C) follows from Lemma 6.1 and the relations

$$\mathcal{F}^{s} = \bigcap_{\varepsilon > 0} \mathcal{F}^{s[\varepsilon]}, \quad t[-\varepsilon] = \widetilde{t}[\varepsilon], \quad t \in T.$$

To prove the last assertion of Theorem 6.2 it is sufficient merely to verify that the definition of σ -algebras $\mathcal{A}_i(\alpha, \beta)$ given in §6.4 for random domains $\alpha \subseteq \beta$ is equivalent to the corresponding definition given in §1.4 in the framework of general stochastic models.

Lemma 6.3. For any $\alpha(\omega) \subseteq \beta(\omega)$ and i = 1, 2, 3 the σ -algebra $\mathcal{A}_i(\alpha, \beta)$ defined in § 1.4 coincides with the intersection over all $\varepsilon > 0$ of the σ -algebras $\mathcal{A}_i^{(\varepsilon)}(\alpha, \beta)$ generated by α, β , and the events

$$\{\alpha \mid -\epsilon\} \subseteq a, \ b \subseteq \beta \mid \epsilon\} \cap \Gamma, \ \ \Gamma \in \mathcal{A}_i(a, b).$$

Proof. We fix $\varepsilon > 0$ and (omitting the index i = 1, 2, 3) we show that if $\Delta \in \mathcal{A}^{k}(\alpha, \beta) \equiv \mathcal{A}^{k}$ for all k, then $\Delta \in \mathcal{A}^{(\varepsilon)}(\alpha, \beta) \equiv \mathcal{A}^{(\varepsilon)}$. We put

$$\lambda = [\alpha, \beta] = \{t: \alpha \subseteq t \subseteq \beta\}, \quad \lambda^{(\varepsilon)} = [\alpha [-\varepsilon], \beta [\varepsilon]], \quad \lambda^k = [f_k(\alpha), g_k(\beta)]$$

and denote by L_k the (countable) set of values of λ^k . Then by 6.A

$$\Delta = \bigcup_{k=1}^{\alpha} \bigcup_{l \in L_{k}} \Delta^{k, l}, \quad \Delta^{h, l} = \{\lambda^{k} \subseteq \lambda^{(\varepsilon)}, \ \lambda^{k} = l\} \cap \Delta,$$

and so it is sufficient to show that $\Delta^{k,l} \in \mathcal{A}^{(e)}$ for all $\Lambda \in \mathcal{A}^{k}$. In turn, it is sufficient to establish this for Δ of the form (1.3), but for such Δ if $\Delta^{k,l} \neq \emptyset$, then

$$\Delta^{k,\,l} = |\{\lambda^{(\mathfrak{e})} \supseteq [a,\,b]\} \cap \Gamma] \cap \{\lambda^{k} \subseteq \lambda^{(\mathfrak{e})}, \ \lambda^{k} = [a,\,b]\} \in \mathcal{A}^{(\mathfrak{e})}$$

since the maps $t \mapsto t |\varepsilon|$ and $t \mapsto t |-\varepsilon|$ are measurable (see Lemma 6.2).

Now suppose that $\Delta \in \mathcal{A}^{(e)}$ for all $\varepsilon > 0$. We take any k = 1, 2, ... and claim that $\Delta \in \mathcal{A}^k$. Because of 6.A,

$$\Delta = \bigcup_{n=1}^{\infty} \bigcup_{l \in L_{k}} \Delta_{n, l}, \ \Delta_{n, l} = \{\lambda^{(1/n)} \subseteq \lambda^{k}, \ \lambda^{k} = l\} \cap \Delta,$$

and consequently it is sufficient to show that $\Delta_{n,l} \in \mathcal{A}^h$ for all $\Delta \in \mathcal{A}^{(1/n)}$. In turn, it is sufficient to prove this for Δ of the form

$$\{\lambda^{(1/n)} \cong [a, b]\} \cap \Gamma, \quad \Gamma \in \mathcal{A} (a, b)$$

(see (6.4)), and if Δ has this form, then for $\Delta_{n,l} \neq \emptyset$

$$\Delta_{n,l} = \{\lambda^{(1/n)} \subseteq \lambda^k, \ \lambda^{(1/n)} \supseteq [a, b]\} \cap [\{\lambda^k = l\} \cap \Gamma] \in \mathcal{A}^k.$$

since $[a, b] \subseteq l \equiv [c, d]$, and consequently

$$\Gamma \in \mathcal{A}(a, b) \subseteq \mathcal{A}(c, d).$$

Lemma 6.3 and Theorem 6.2 are proved.

6.10. Remark 6.2. The formulation and proof of Lemma 6.3 can be carried over directly to the general case of a continuous stochastic model $\{\mathcal{A}_i(a, b)\}$ with an arbitrary partially ordered measurable space (T, \mathcal{F}, \leq) , on which besides a skeleton $\mathcal{H} = \{f_k, g_k\}$ we have a family of measurable maps $t \mapsto t \mid -\varepsilon \mid$ and $t \mapsto t \mid \varepsilon \mid$, $\varepsilon > 0$, satisfying condition 6.A.

Remark 6.3. As is clear from Lemma 6.3 and the preceding remark, the particular form of the maps f_k and g_k defined in §6.5 is not important in the proof of Theorem 6.2. It is essential only that these maps form a skeleton of the space of domains and that condition 6.A is fulfilled. However, the construction of f_k , g_k given in §6.5 is apparently the most convenient.

Remark 6.4. The results presented here can easily be carried over to the case when ξ is not defined on the whole of \mathbb{R}^d but, say, on some open set homeomorphic to \mathbb{R}^d . In this case, to define the maps f_k , g_k , instead of cubes of order k we have to take their images under the corresponding homeomorphism. Other generalizations are also possible, employing the technique developed in the first part of this paper. (Compare [3], where fields on metric spaces were considered.)

6.11. We conclude this section with some equivalent formulations of the Markov property of a field (see [3], [8], [23], [24], [28], [29]).

Proposition 6.1. The following conditions are equivalent:

 $(M_1) \qquad \mathcal{F}^{\widetilde{a}} \amalg \mathcal{F}^b \mid \mathcal{F}^{\widetilde{a} \cap b} \text{ for any } a, b \in T, a \subseteq b;$

 (M_2) for any open bounded set u and $\varepsilon > 0$ we have $\mathfrak{Y}^u \coprod \mathfrak{T}^v | \mathfrak{T}^{w(\varepsilon)}$, where $v = R^d \setminus cl$ u and $w = \partial u$;

(M₃) $\mathcal{G}^p \coprod \mathcal{G}^q \mid \mathcal{G}^{p \cap q}$ for any open sets p and q such that $p \cup q = R^d$ and p is bounded;

 $(M_4) \ \mathcal{F}^t \coprod \mathcal{F}^s \mid \mathcal{F}^{t \cap s}$ for any closed sets t and s such that $t \cup s = R^d$ and t is bounded.

Proof. Let (M_1) hold. To establish (M_2) we apply (M_1) to $a = cl(u \setminus w[\delta])$, $b = u \cup w[\delta]$, where $\delta = \varepsilon - \varepsilon/m$ (m = 2, 3, ...). We obtain

 $\mathfrak{S}^{\mathsf{w}} \parallel \mathfrak{S}^{\mathsf{v}} \mid \mathfrak{F}^{\mathfrak{w}[\varepsilon-\varepsilon/m]}$.

because $\widetilde{a} = (\mathbb{R}^d \setminus u) \cup w[\delta] \supseteq v$, $b \supseteq u$, and $\widetilde{a} \cap b = w[\delta]$. Hence (M_2) follows, since

$$\mathcal{F}^{w[e-e/m]} \neq \mathcal{G}^{w(e)}$$

To deduce (M_3) from (M_2) we put

$$q^{c} = R^{d} \setminus q, \quad u = (q^{c})(x), \quad v = R^{d} \setminus \operatorname{cl} u, \quad w(\varepsilon) = (\partial u)(\varepsilon),$$

taking $\varkappa > 0$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ such that cl $u \subseteq p$, $w(\varepsilon) \subseteq p \cap q$. Applying the relation $\mathcal{G}^{s_1 \cup s_2} = \mathcal{G}^{s_1} \vee \mathcal{G}^{s_2}$, which is valid for any open sets s_1 , s_2 , and general properties of conditionally independent σ -algebras (see, for example, [3], Ch. 2, §1), we obtain from (M_2) :

$$\mathcal{G}^{u} \parallel \mathcal{G}^{v} \mid \mathcal{G}^{w(\varepsilon)} \cup (v \cap p) \cup (u \cap q) = \mathcal{G}^{p} \cap q.$$

where \mathscr{G}^{u} can be replaced by $\mathscr{G}^{u} \vee \mathscr{G}^{p \cap q} = \mathscr{G}^{p}$ and \mathscr{G}^{v} by $\mathscr{G}^{v} \vee \mathscr{G}^{p \cap q} = \mathscr{G}^{q}$, which gives (M_{3}) .

To deduce (M_4) from (M_3) it is enough to proceed to the limit as $\varepsilon = k^{-1} \rightarrow 0 \ (k = 1, 2, ...)$ in the relation

$$\mathcal{G}^{t(\varepsilon)} \parallel \mathcal{G}^{s(\varepsilon)} \mid \mathcal{G}^{t(\varepsilon) \cap s(\varepsilon)} = \mathcal{G}^{(t \cap s)(\varepsilon)}.$$

which is valid by (M_3) .

Finally, (M_1) follows from (M_4) when t = b, $s = \tilde{a}$.

We note that for generalized fields the conditions $(M_1)-(M_4)$ lead to a concept of Markov property different from the one in [6], [7], [31] (for the corresponding discussion see, for example, [3], [8]).

§7. Constructions of splitting domains

7.1. In the previous section it was shown that the study of the strong Markov property and splitting random domains for a field ξ on \mathbb{R}^d can be realized in the framework of the stochastic model $\mathfrak{A}(\xi)$. This gives the possibility of applying the general results of §4, particularly Theorem 4.2, to the construction of splitting random domains. However, to apply Theorem 4.2 directly we need to verify that the space of domains (T, \mathcal{F}) satisfies condition 3.A. This fact follows from assertion (a) of the following lemma.

Lemma 7.1. (a) The space (T, \mathcal{F}) of domains is standard. (b) There is a sequence of measurable maps y_j (j = 1, 2, ...) from (T, \mathcal{F}) to \mathbb{R}^d , equipped with the Borel σ -algebra $\mathscr{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$, such that $\delta t = \operatorname{cl} \{y_j(t)\}$ for any $t \in T \setminus \{\emptyset\}$.

Proof. We consider the space K of all non-empty compact subsets of \mathbb{R}^d with the Hausdorff metric (6.5). It is known that K is a complete separable space (see, for example, [32]) and that there is a sequence of measurable maps w_j : $(K, \mathcal{B}(K)) \rightarrow (\mathbb{R}^d, \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d))$ (j = 1, 2, ...) such that $\partial \mathbf{k} = \operatorname{cl} \{w_j(k)\}$ for every $k \in K$. The last result follows, for example, from Theorem 4.2 of [25], which can be applied after verifying that $K_u \equiv \{k: \partial k \cap u \neq \emptyset\} \in \mathcal{B}(K)$ for any open ball $u \subseteq \mathbb{R}^d$. But this is true, since

$$K_{u} = \{k: k \cap u \neq \emptyset\} \setminus \{k: k \supseteq u\},\$$

where the first set is open and the second is closed in K.

Next, we note that the set $K^0 = \{k \in K: \text{ int } k \neq \emptyset\}$ coincides with the union of closed sets $\{k \in K: k \supseteq u_l\}$ (l = 1, 2, ...), where u_l are balls with rational centres and radii, and consequently belong to $\mathcal{B}(K)$. Let $w_j(k)$ be the centre of the ball u_m with the smallest number $m \ge j$, contained in $k \in K^0$. Then

$$T \setminus \{\emptyset\} = \bigcap_{i=1}^{\infty} \{k \in K^0: \inf_j | w_i(k) - w'_j(k) | = 0\} \in \mathscr{B}(K),$$

hence (a) follows by Remark 6.1. To construct $y_j(t)$ it is enough to fix $q \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and put $y_j(t) = w_j(t)$ for $t \in T \setminus \{\emptyset\}$ and $y_j(\emptyset) = q$.

7.2. Thus, Theorem 4.2 is valid in the model $\mathfrak{A}(\xi)$. We establish a sufficiently general corollary of it.

Let ξ be a random field on \mathbb{R}^d (ordinary or generalized), $Z(\omega)$ a class of non-empty domains given for each $\omega \in \Omega$, and $F(\omega, t)$ a real functional defined for all $\omega \in \Omega$ and $t \in Z(\omega)$. As always, we assume that the space T of domains is partially ordered by the inclusion relation \subseteq .

Theorem 7.1. Let the functional $F(\omega, t)$, $t \in Z(\omega)$ be local. Let the following conditions hold for each $\omega \in \Omega$:

1) the set $Z(\omega)$ of domains is a lattice and the functional $F(\omega, t), t \in Z(\omega)$, is submodular, that is, $F(\omega, t \lor s) + F(\omega, t \land s) \leq F(\omega, t) + F(\omega, s)$. $t, s \in Z(\omega)$, where \lor and \land are the lattice operations in $Z(\omega)$;

2) the set of the domains $t \in Z(\omega)$ that minimize $F(\omega, t)$ on $Z(\omega)$ is nonempty and contains the (unique) domain $\tau(\omega)$ that is smallest with respect to inclusion.

Then $\tau(\omega)$ is a weakly local splitting random domain.

We note that since the model $\mathfrak{A}(\xi)$ is regular, in accordance with the convention of §3.3 the condition of being local in this model is understood with respect to regular zones (3.3). Consequently, the property of the functional $F(\omega, t), t \in Z(\omega)$, of being local means here that for any $a, b \in T, a \subseteq b$, and $r \in (-\infty, +\infty)$ the following relations are satisfied:

$$\begin{array}{ll} \{(\omega, \ t, \ s): \ t, \ s \in Z(\omega), & t, \ s \subseteq b, \quad F(\omega, \ t) - F(\omega, \ s) \leqslant r\} \in \\ & \in \mathcal{A}_1(a, \ b) \times \mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{F}, \\ \{(\omega, \ t, \ s): \ t, \ s \in Z(\omega), & t, \ s \supseteq a, \quad F(\omega, \ t) - F(\omega, \ s) \leqslant r\} \in \\ & \in \mathcal{A}_2(a, \ b) \times \mathcal{F} \times \mathcal{F}, \end{array}$$

where $\mathcal{A}_i(a, b)$ are the σ -algebras generated by ξ (see (6.3)).

Proof of Theorem 7.1. Since the functional $F(\omega, t)$, $t \in Z(\omega)$, is local, its domain $Z(\omega)$ is also local—see §3.4. Consequently, by Proposition 3.2 the random set $Z(\omega)$ is splitting. Next, since the zones $M_i(a, b)$ are regular, from condition 1) and Proposition 4.3 it follows that the functional $F(\omega, t)$, $t \in Z(\omega)$, is sufficient. Thus, the assertion of Theorem 7.1 follows from Theorem 4.2.

Proposition 7.1. For the conditions of Theorem 7.1 to be satisfied it is sufficient that the following requirements are fulfilled:

(a) the set $Z(\omega)$ does not depend on $\omega [Z(\omega) = Z]$, it is compact in the Hausdorff metric, and it is a lattice;

(b) the functional $F(\omega, t)$ is continuous in $t \in Z$ with respect to the Hausdorff metric and is submodular;

(c) for any $t, s \in Z$, $t \subseteq s$, the random variable $F(\omega, t) - F(\omega, s)$ is measurable with respect to $\mathcal{A}_3(t, s)$.

Proof. Condition 2) follows from Proposition 4.3, so we need only verify that $F(\omega, t), t \in Z(\omega)$, is local. We fix $a \subseteq b$, $a, b \in t$, and put $M_1 = \{t: t \subseteq b\}, M_2 = \{t: t \supseteq a\}$. We note first that for any i = 1, 2

(7.1)
$$F(\omega, t) - F(\omega, s) \in \mathcal{A}_i(a, b)$$

whenever t, $s \in M_i \cap Z$. For example, if i = 2, then

$$t \lor s \in M_t \cap Z, \quad t \subseteq t \lor s, \quad s \subseteq t \lor s,$$

$$F(t) - F(s) = [F(t) - F(t \lor s)] + [F(t \lor s) - F(s)] \in$$

$$\in \mathcal{A}_3(t, t \lor s) \lor \mathcal{A}_3(s, t \lor s) \subseteq \mathcal{A}_i(a, b).$$

From (7.1) and the fact that the function $F(\omega, t) - F(\omega, s)$ is continuous in (t, s) on the metric compact set $(Z \cap M_i) \times (Z \cap M_i)$ we deduce that this function is measurable in (ω, t, s) with respect to the product of $\mathcal{A}_i(a, b)$ and the Borel σ -algebra of the above compact set. Taking account of the fact that $Z \cap M_i \in \mathcal{T}$ and the Borel subsets of $Z \cap M_i$ coincide with \mathcal{T} -measurable subsets (see Remark 6.1), we see that f is local, as required.

Remark 7.1. One of the simplest cases when the conditions (a)-(c) given in Proposition 7.1 can be directly verified is the following: (i) Z is a compact (in the Hausdorff metric r_H) class of domains that is closed under finite unions and intersections and is such that mes $(t\Delta s) \leq C \cdot r_H(t, s), t, s \in Z$, where mes(\cdot) is the Lebesgue measure and C is some constant; (ii) F is defined by $F(\omega, t) = \int_{t} \eta_x(\omega) dx$, where $\eta_x(\omega)$ is a random function, continuous in $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, such that for all $t \in T$, $x \in t$ the random variable η_x is measurable with respect to \mathcal{F}^t (\mathcal{F}^t are the σ -algebras connected with the field ξ , see §6.1). An example of a set Z satisfying condition (i) is given in §8.1.

§8. Survey of examples and applications

8.1. In this section we present a survey of analytic examples illustrating the results on splitting random domains obtained above. We also consider the applications of the random change of variables described in §5 to the construction of Markov models on the space of contours.

Limitations on the length of this paper do not allow us to analyse the examples in detail, with full proofs. For this purpose we would need a range of tools broader than the one employed here, namely: some techniques connected with Hausdorff measures, estimates of ε -entropy of sets in function spaces, some facts concerning random fields (percolation theorems), limit theorems of probability theory, and others. Therefore, the detailed presentation of the results of this section and some of their generalizations will be given separately in forthcoming papers.

We begin with examples related to one of the most important and well studied Markov fields—a free field [7, 33-35].

Let ξ_{φ} , $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(R^2)$, be a free field on the plane, that is, a stationary Gaussian random function with zero mean and spectral density $(1 + x_1^2 + x_2^2)^{-1}$, $x_1, x_2 \in R^2$. The random function ξ_{φ} can be extended in a canonical way to the Sobolev space $\mathcal{H}_{-1}(R^2)$ of generalized functions with moderate growth such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^2} \frac{|\varphi(x_1, x_2)|^2}{1 + x_1^2 + x_2^2} \, dx_1 \, dx_2 < \infty,$$

where \sim denotes the Fourier transform (see [34], [35]).

The space $\mathcal{H}_{-1}(R^2)$ contains the indicator functions χ_t of all domains $t \in T(R^2)$, so for all $t \in T(R^2)$ the random variable $\Xi_t(\omega) = \xi_{\chi_t}(\omega)$ ($\omega \in \Omega$) is well defined (up to equivalence).

Let \mathfrak{X}_{-} and \mathfrak{X}_{+} be two classes of continuous functions $a(r), r \in [0, 1]$, such that a(r) > 0 for $r \in (0, 1)$. Let the following conditions be fulfilled:

(α) Each of the classes \mathfrak{X}_{-} , \mathfrak{X}_{+} is closed with respect to uniform convergence and the operations of taking the maximum and the minimum of two functions.

(β) All functions $a(\cdot) \in \mathfrak{X}_{-} \cup \mathfrak{X}_{+}$ are bounded by some constant M and satisfy a Lipschitz condition with constant M.

To each pair of functions $f = (f_-, f_+) \in \mathfrak{X}_- \times \mathfrak{X}_+$ there corresponds a domain

$$t_{f} = \{ (r, q) \in \mathbb{R}^{2} : -f_{-}(r) \leq q \leq f_{+}(r), r \in [0, 1] \}$$

We denote the class of all such domains by $Z = Z(\mathfrak{X}_{-}, \mathfrak{X}_{+})$.

Theorem 8.1. 1) The set Z of domains is compact in the Hausdorff metric and is a lattice with $t \wedge s = t \cap s$ and $t \vee s = t \cup s$. 2) There is a continuous (with respect to the Hausdorff metric) modification $F(\omega, t)$ of the functional $\Xi_t(\omega)$, $t \in Z$, which for all $\omega \in \Omega$ satisfies the following condition:

 $F(\omega, t \lor s) + F(\omega, t \land s) = F(\omega, t) + F(\omega, s), t, s \in \mathbb{Z}.$

3) For each $\omega \in \Omega$ the functional $F(\omega, t), t \in Z$, attains its minimum $\overline{F}(\omega)$. The set

$$\overline{Z}(\omega) = \{t \in Z: F(\omega, t) = \overline{F}(\omega)\}$$

contains the smallest (with respect to inclusion) domain $\tau(\omega)$. The domain $\tau(\omega)$ is splitting.

Remark 8.1. Employing the theorem on uniqueness of the minimum of a Gaussian random function (see [36]), one can show that $\overline{Z}(\omega) = \{\tau(\omega)\}$ for almost all $\omega \in \Omega$.

The construction of a functional $F(\omega, t)$ described in 2) is based on the results of [37], [38] on the continuity of Gaussian random functions on a

metric space. In this an essential role is played by the estimate

(8.1)
$$\frac{\lim_{\varepsilon \downarrow 0} \frac{\log \log N(\varepsilon, Z)}{\log(1/\varepsilon)} \leq 1,$$

where $N(\epsilon, Z)$ is the smallest number of elements in an ϵ -net of Z. The inequality (8.1) can be derived from formulae on the ϵ -entropy of classes of functions satisfying a Lipschitz condition [39]. The splitting property of τ can be established by means of Theorem 7.1 and Proposition 7.1.

8.2. It is of interest to study limit distributions connected with extremal random domains. In general, this problem is very difficult. Here we show one case in which it can be solved.

We consider the above construction and apply it to the classes \mathfrak{X}_{-} and \mathfrak{X}_{+} , where \mathfrak{X}_{-} consists of one function $f_{-} \equiv c$, and \mathfrak{X}_{+} consists of constant functions $f_{+} \equiv a$, $a \in [0, A]$ (the numbers c > 0 and A > 0 are assumed to be given). The domains that belong to the class $Z = Z(\mathfrak{X}_{-}, \mathfrak{X}_{+})$ are rectangles of the form $[0, 1] \times [-c, a]$, $a \in [0, A]$.

Let $\tau_A = [0, 1] \times [-c, \sigma_A(\omega)]$ be the smallest (with respect to inclusion) rectangle among those that minimize $F(\omega, t)$ on Z, where $F(\omega, t)$ was constructed in Theorem 8.1. By this theorem τ_A is a splitting random domain for the free field. The result given below allows us to obtain approximate formulae for distributions of such domains for large values of A.

Theorem 8.2. For any $r \in (0, 1)$

$$\lim_{A\to\infty} P\left\{\sigma_A/A < r\right\} = \frac{2}{\pi} \arcsin \sqrt{r}.$$

Thus, the distributions of the random variables σ_A/A converge weakly to the arcsin law. In the proof of Theorem 8.2 we use Theorem 12.1 from [40].

8.3. We consider one more example of the construction of splitting random domains, this time related to ordinary random fields.

Let J be the set of all non-empty domains $t \subseteq R^2$ whose boundaries are contours (that is, they are homeomorphic to a circle) and have finite length $l(\partial t)$.

Let $\xi_x(\omega)$ ($x \in \mathbb{R}^2$, $\omega \in \Omega$) be a real random function with continuous realizations. We fix $t_0 \in J$, $c \in \mathbb{R}^1$ and consider the set

$$q(\omega) = \{x \in R^2: \xi_x(\omega) \geqslant c\}$$

and the class of domains

$$W(\omega) = \{t \in J : \ \partial t \subseteq q(\omega), t \supseteq t_0\}.$$

We assume that $W(\omega) \neq \emptyset$, $\omega \in \Omega$.

Theorem 8.3. In the class $W(\omega)$ there are domains t with minimal perimeter $l(\partial t)$. Among the domains with minimal perimeter there is a (unique) domain $\tau(\omega)$ that is smallest with respect to inclusion. It is splitting.

I.V. Evstigneev

The boundary $\partial \tau(\omega)$ of $\tau(\omega)$ gives a solution to the following problem: find the shortest path around the domain t_0 on the set $\mathbb{R}^2 \setminus \operatorname{int} t_0$ not intersecting $\{x: \xi_x < c\}$



(the shortest path around the "island" t_0 on the "sea" $R^2 \setminus \text{int } t_0$ outside the "shallows" $\{x: \xi_x(\omega) < c\}$, see Fig. 1).

The proof of Theorem 8.3 is based on Theorem 7.1 and the following result.

Proposition 8.1. For each $\omega \in \Omega$ the set $W(\omega)$ is a lattice, where if $t, s \in W(\omega)$, then $t \wedge s = clu$, and $t \vee s = v^c (= R^2 \setminus v)$, where u is the connected component of int $t \cap$ int s containing int t_0 , and v is the unbounded connected component of $t^c \cap s^c$ (see Fig. 2). The functional $l(\partial t)$ is submodular on $W(\omega)$.

Despite the fact that this assertion is "geometrically obvious", to prove it rigorously one has to use some subtle results on the topology of the plane ([27], vol. 2, §61). Moreover, during the proof it is necessary to extend the functional $l(\cdot)$ in a suitable way to a class of sets broader than the class of contours. To this end we consider the Hausdorff measure of order 1 on Borel subsets of R^2 and use a number of properties of it [41], [42].

8.4. We distinguish two important special classes of splitting random domains. Let ξ be a field on \mathbb{R}^d and \mathcal{F}^t , $t \in T = T(\mathbb{R}^d)$, the σ -algebras defined by (6.1).

Theorem 8.4. If a random domain τ satisfies one of the conditions:

- (8.2) $\{\tau \subseteq t\} \in \mathcal{F}^t, \quad t \in T,$
- (8.3) $\{\tau \supseteq t\} \in \mathcal{F}^t, \quad t \in T,$

then it is splitting.

Thus, if (8.2) or (8.3) is fulfilled and the given field ξ is Markov, then it has the strong Markov property with respect to τ (compare [3], [10], [11]).

We give a simple proof of Theorem 8.4. Let (8.2) hold. To prove the splitting property it is sufficient to show that

(8.4)
$$\{\tau \in D, \ \tau \subseteq b\} \in \mathcal{F}^b, \ D \in \mathcal{T}, \ b \in T.$$

In turn, it is sufficient to prove (8.4) for sets D of the form

$$(8.5) D = \{t \in T: t \subseteq c\}, c \in T,$$

since by Lemma 6.2(2) such sets generate \mathcal{T} . But if D has the form (8.5), then by (8.2)

$$\{\tau \in D, \ \tau \subseteq b\} = \{\tau \subseteq c \cap b\} = \{\tau \subseteq e\} \in \mathscr{F}^e \subseteq \mathscr{F}^b,$$

where

$$e = \operatorname{cl}(\operatorname{int} c \cap \operatorname{int} b) \in T.$$

We assume now that (8.3) holds. Then $D \in \mathcal{T}$ can be represented in the form

(8.6)
$$\Delta \equiv \{\tau \in D, \ a \subseteq \tau \subseteq b\} = \{\tau \subseteq b\} \cap \Gamma,$$

where Γ is some event from \mathcal{F}^b . For it is sufficient to prove (8.6) for sets D of the form $\{t: t \supseteq c\}, c \in T$, which, by Lemma 6.2(3), generate \mathcal{F} . But for such D if $\Delta \neq \emptyset$ we have $c \subseteq b$, hence

$$\Delta = \{ \tau \supseteq c \} \cap \{ \tau \supseteq a \} \cap \{ \tau \subseteq b \},$$

where the first two events belong to \mathscr{F}^b , since $a \subseteq b$ and $c \subseteq b$. It remains to note that

$$\{\mathfrak{r} \not \equiv b\} = \bigcup_{j} \{\mathfrak{r} \supseteq v_{j}\} \in \mathscr{F}^{\widetilde{b}} \subseteq \mathscr{F}^{\widetilde{a}},$$

where $\{v_j\}$ is the set of closed balls with rational centres and radii contained in $\mathbb{R}^d \setminus b$. Thus, $\Delta = \Gamma \cap \Gamma'$, where $\Gamma \in \mathcal{F}^b$ and $\Gamma' \in \mathcal{F}^{\widetilde{a}}$, as required.

8.5. We will not study domains of the form (8.2) and (8.3) in detail here; we give only some examples.

Let $\eta_x(\omega)$ be a real-valued field continuous in $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. Let $\eta_x(\omega)$ be adapted to the field ξ , that is, η_x is measurable with respect to \mathcal{F}^t for all $t \in T$, $x \in t$. We assume that

$$\lambda(\omega) \equiv \{x: \eta_x(\omega) > 0\} \neq \emptyset, \quad \omega \in \Omega.$$

Theorem 8.5. The set $\tau(\omega) = \operatorname{cl} \lambda(\omega)$ has the property (8.3). If $\tau(\omega)$ is bounded for each ω , then it is a splitting random domain.

Let $\zeta_x(\omega)$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$, be another field with continuous realizations, adapted to ξ . We fix a point $x_0 \in \mathbb{R}^d$ and a real number q > 0. We also assume that

for all ω

$$x_0 \in \lambda(\omega), \quad \zeta_x(\omega) \ge 0.$$

We say that a point $x \in \lambda(\omega)$ belongs to the set $\lambda_q(\omega)$ if there is a (continuous) rectifiable curve $\gamma: I \equiv [0, 1] \rightarrow R^d$ such that $\gamma(0) = x_0$, $\gamma(1) = x, \gamma(r) \in \lambda(\omega)$ for $r \in I$, and

$$\int_{Y} \zeta_x(\omega) l(dx) < q,$$

where l(dx) is the element of length. The set $\lambda_q(\omega)$ is non-empty and open; we denote its closure by $\tau_q(\omega)$. If, say, $\zeta_x(\omega) \ge \varkappa > 0$, then $\tau_q(\omega)$ is bounded and consequently $\tau_q(\omega) \in T$.

Let us suppose that the field $\xi_x(\omega), x \in \lambda(\omega)$, describes a non-homogenous medium and that $\zeta_x(\omega)^{-1}$ characterizes the local rate of propagation of some wave process at the point $x \in \lambda(\omega)$. Then according to the Huyghens principle the surface $\partial \tau_q(\omega)$ gives the position at time q > 0 of the front of the wave propagated in $\lambda(\omega)$ from x_0 .

Theorem 8.6. The set $\tau_q(\omega)$ satisfies the condition (8.2), and if $\tau_q(\omega)$ is bounded, then it is a splitting random domain.

Remark 8.2. If $\zeta_x \equiv 0$, then $\tau_q(\omega)$ is the closure of the connected component of an open set $\lambda(\omega)$ that contains x_0 (compare [3], [10], [11]).

The idea of the proof of Theorem 8.6 is close to that of Theorem 2 in [11].

8.6. We demonstrate one application of the random change of variables described in §5. Let T_2 be the set of all contours $t \subseteq R^2$ that can be represented as a union of a certain number of edges of the two-dimensional integer lattice Z^2 . If $t \in T_2$, we denote by I(t) the (compact) domain bounded by the contour t. We put $t \leq s$ if $I(t) \subseteq I(s)$.

As before, let (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) be a complete probability space. We assume that to each $x \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ there corresponds an automorphism $\theta_x : \Omega \to \Omega$ of the space (Ω, \mathcal{F}, P) such that $\theta_{x+y} = \theta_x \cdot \theta_y$. We consider a family $\mathcal{A}_i(a, b)$ $(i = 1, 2, 3; a \leq b)$ of σ -subalgebras of \mathcal{F} that form a stochastic model on T_2 . We say that this model is stationary if

$$\theta_x^{-1}\mathcal{A}_i(a, b) = \mathcal{A}_i(a+x, b+x),$$

where a + x is the contour obtained from a by displacement through a vector x. A random function $\xi_t(\omega)$ taking values in some measurable space E_x for each $t \in T_2$ will be called stationary if $E_{t+x} = E_t$ and $\xi_{t+x}(\omega) = \xi_t(\theta_x \omega)$ (a.s.) for $t \in T_2$, $x \in \mathbb{Z}^2$.

Our goal is to show how by using Theorem 5.2 one can construct sufficiently broad classes of stationary Markov random functions and stationary Markov models on T_2 . They are of interest as natural generalizations of Gibbs fields on Z^2 and also in connection with the growing attention paid by physicists to fields defined not on points of space but on some other geometric objects (contours, loops, surfaces, "threads", and so on, see [16], [17]).

The raw material for the constructions will be random fields on Z^2 . Thus, the construction presented below can be regarded as a way of perturbing fields defined on points, which leads to fields defined on contours.

Let $\Xi_x(\omega)$, $x \in \mathbb{Z}^2$, be a random function taking values in a standard measurable space E such that

$$\Xi_{x+y}(\omega) = \Xi_y(\theta_x \omega), \quad (x, y \in \mathbb{Z}^2, \ \omega \in \Omega).$$

For $v \subseteq R^2$ we denote by $\Xi_v(\omega)$ the configuration of values of $\Xi_x(\omega)$ on $v \cap \mathbb{Z}^2$. We consider the regular stochastic model $\mathfrak{A} = \{\mathcal{A}_t(a, b)\}$ generated by the random variable $t \mapsto \Xi_t(\omega), t \in T_2$ (see §1.2). This model is stationary. We also assume that the following condition holds.

8.A. The model a is Markov.

For this it is sufficient, for example, that Ξ_x , $x \in \mathbb{Z}^2$, are independent. The condition 8.A is also fulfilled if Ξ_x is the Gibbs field with nearest neighbour potential [9].

Let $g: E \to [0, \infty)$ be a measurable function. We consider the functional

$$G(\omega, t) = \sum_{\mathbf{x} \in \{\bigcap \mathbf{Z}^2\}} g(\Xi_{\mathbf{x}}(\omega)), \quad t \in T_2,$$

and for any $a \in T_2$ we put ${}^{a}Z = \{t \in T_2: t \ge a\}$.

Lemma 8.1. The set ^aZ is a lattice. The functional $G(\omega, t)$ is submodular with respect to lattice operations in ^aZ.

Next, we assume that to each $a \in T_2$ there corresponds a (non-random) functional ${}^a\Phi(t)$, $t \in {}^aZ$, with the following properties.

8.B. For any $a \le b$, $u \ge a$, $v \ge b$ the following inequality holds:

$${}^{a}\Phi\left(u \wedge v\right) + {}^{b}\Phi\left(u \vee v\right) \leqslant {}^{a}\Phi\left(u\right) + {}^{b}\Phi\left(v\right)$$

(the operations \wedge and \vee are understood in the sense of ^aZ). For all $t \in T_2$ and $x \in \mathbb{Z}^2$ we have $a + x \Phi(t + x) = a \Phi(t)$.

8.C. For each $a \in T_2$ the set ${}^a\overline{Z}(\omega)$ of contours $t \in {}^aZ$ that minimize the functional

$${}^{a}F(\omega, t) = {}^{a}\Phi(t) + G(\omega, t), \quad t \in {}^{a}Z,$$

is non-empty with probability 1.

We take an arbitrary map $c: T_2 \rightarrow \mathbb{Z}^2$ such that c(t+x) = c(t)+x (for example, let c(t) be the top right point of the contour t).

Theorem 8.7. For almost all ω the set ${}^{a}\overline{Z}(\omega)$ contains its infimum. Let $\tau_{a}(\omega) = \inf {}^{a}\overline{Z}(\omega)$ (a.s.), $a \in T_{2}$. Then $\{\tau_{a}\}_{a \in T_{1}}$ is a monotone family of weakly local splitting contours. The stochastic model

$$\mathfrak{B} = \{ \mathscr{B}_i(a, b) \} = \{ \mathscr{A}_i(\tau_a, \tau_b) \} \quad (i = 1, 2, 3; a \leq b; a, b \in T_2 \}$$

is regular, stationary, and Markov. The random function $\zeta_t = (\Xi_{\tau_t}, \tau_t - c(t))$ is stationary and Markov, and $\sigma{\zeta_t} = \mathscr{B}_3(t, t)$.

We note that the spaces D_t of values of ζ_t are standard, hence they can be realized as Borel subsets of R^1 , and ζ_t as a real-valued function.

Theorem 8.7 is a consequence of Theorem 5.2. The fact that ζ_t is Markov follows from the fact that the model \mathfrak{B} is regular and Markov and the fact that $\sigma{\{\zeta_t\}} = \mathscr{B}_3(t, t)$.

We give examples of families of functionals ${}^{a}\Phi(\cdot)$, $a \in T_{2}$, satisfying the condition 8.B. Let $\Psi_{j}: R^{1} \rightarrow R^{1}$ (j = 1, ..., k) be non-decreasing convex functions, and for each j = 1, 2, ..., k let $\mu_{j}(t) = \max \{l_{j}(y), y \in t\}$, where l_{j} is some linear form on R^{2} . Let $\nu_{j}(a)$ be functions on T_{2} such that $\nu_{j}(a+x) = \nu_{j}(a)$ for $a \in T_{2}, x \in \mathbb{Z}^{2}$ and $\nu_{j}(t) \ge \nu_{j}(s)$ if $t \ge s$. Then 8.B is satisfied for

$${}^{a}\Phi(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{k} \Psi_{j}(\mu_{j}(t) - \mu_{j}(a) - \nu_{j}(a)), \quad t \in {}^{a}Z, \ a \in T_{2}.$$

To guarantee the validity of condition 8.C we can introduce, for example, the assumption of sufficiently rapid growth of ${}^{a}\Phi(t)$ as the diameter of the contour t tends to infinity. Conditions of a different kind, which cover the case ${}^{a}\Phi(t) \equiv 0$, are the following: the functional ${}^{a}\Phi(t)$ is bounded from below in $t \in {}^{a}Z$; the random variables $\gamma_{x} = g(\Xi_{x}), x \in \mathbb{Z}^{2}$, are independent and equally distributed, and $P\{\gamma_{x} > 0\} = 1$.

8.7. We consider some types of stochastic models different from $\mathfrak{N}(\xi)$ and connected with random fields ξ_x , $x \in \mathbb{R}^d$. We put $T^d = \mathbb{R}^d$, $\mathcal{T}^d = \mathcal{B}(\mathbb{R}^d)$ and introduce on T^d a natural (coordinate-wise) relation \leq of partial ordering of vectors. We denote by $\varphi(r)$ (respectively, $\psi(r)$) the integer that is nearest to r and smaller (respectively, larger) than r ($r \in \mathbb{R}^1$), and put $\varphi_k(r) = 2^{-k} \varphi(2^k r)$, $\psi_k(r) = 2^{-k} \psi(2^k r)$. The family \mathcal{H}^d of maps

$$f_{k}(t) = (\varphi_{k}(t_{1}), \ldots, \varphi_{k}(t_{d})), \quad g_{k}(t) = (\psi_{k}(t_{1}), \ldots, \psi_{k}(t_{d})),$$
$$t = (t_{1}, \ldots, t_{d}) \in \mathbb{R}^{d}.$$

is a skeleton for $(T^d, \mathcal{T}^d, \leqslant)$.

Let $\mathfrak{G}(\xi) = \{\mathfrak{F}_i(a, b)\}$ be the stochastic model on T^d generated by the random function ξ_x , $x \in T^d$ (see (1.1)) and let $\mathfrak{F}(\xi) = \{\mathcal{F}_i(a, b)\}$ be its closure (see §1.3). It is clear that $\mathcal{F}_i(a, b)$ coincides with the intersection over $\varepsilon > 0$ of the σ -algebras

$$\mathcal{G}_{i}(a-ee, b+ee), e=(1, 1, \ldots, 1) \in \mathbb{R}^{d}.$$

44

We note that if d = 1, then the model $\mathfrak{G}(\xi)$ is Markov if and only if the stochastic process ξ_x , $x \in \mathbb{R}^1$, is Markov (in the classical sense). At the same time, the Markov property of the model $\mathfrak{F}(\xi)$ for d = 1 is equivalent to the condition

$$\sigma\{\xi_{x'}, x' \leqslant x\} \amalg \sigma\{\xi_{x'}, x' \geqslant x\} | \bigcap_{\varepsilon > 0} \sigma\{\xi_{x'}, x' \in [x - \varepsilon, x + \varepsilon]\}$$

Next, if $\xi_r^1, ..., \xi_r^d$ $(r \in \mathbb{R}^1)$ are independent Markov processes, then the models $\mathfrak{G}(\xi)$ and $\mathfrak{F}(\xi)$ constructed from the random function $\xi_x = (\xi_{x_1}^1, \ldots, \xi_{x_d}^d)$ are Markov. Random functions of this kind and models of the type $\mathfrak{G}(\xi)$ arise, for example, in the study of harmonic functions and additive functionals of some Markov processes (see [43]). Markov functions of diffusion type on a partially ordered set of two-dimensional vectors were considered in [44].

We consider the model $\mathfrak{F}(\xi)$ in more detail in the one-dimensional case (d = 1). Here $\xi = \xi_x(\omega)$ ($\omega \in \Omega$, $\xi_x(\omega) \in E_x$, $x \in \mathbb{R}^1$) is a given stochastic process.

We define splitting moments τ as splitting random elements in the model $\mathfrak{F}(\xi)$ (see condition (\mathscr{S}) in §2.1). We say that the process ξ has the strong Markov property with respect to τ if the condition (\mathscr{SM}) given in §2.1 is satisfied. We note that the σ -algebras $\mathcal{F}_i(\alpha, \beta)$ appearing in (\mathscr{SM}) can be defined in an equivalent way as $\bigcap_{\substack{e>0}} \mathcal{F}_i^{(e)}(\alpha, \beta)$, where $\mathcal{F}_i^{(e)}(\alpha, \beta)$ are generated by α, β , and the events { $\alpha - \varepsilon \leq a, \beta + \varepsilon \geq b$ } $\cap \Gamma, \Gamma \in \mathcal{F}_i(a, b)$ (this follows from Remark 6.2).

In the model $\mathfrak{F}(\xi)$ the requirement 2.A is fulfilled, since according to the general agreement (6.2) the process ξ_x , $x \in \mathbb{R}^1$, generates (mod 0) the σ -algebra of all events \mathscr{F} . Thus, from Theorem 2.1 we deduce that the splitting condition (\mathscr{F}) and the strong Markov condition ($\mathscr{F}\mathscr{M}$) are equivalent in the model $\mathfrak{F}(\xi)$.

As a consequence of Theorem 4.2 we obtain the following result.

Theorem 8.8. Let η_x , $x \in \mathbb{R}^1$, be a real stochastic process with continuous realizations such that for each x

$$\eta_x \in \bigcap_{\varepsilon > 0} \sigma \{ \xi_y, \ x - \varepsilon \leqslant y \leqslant x + \varepsilon \}.$$

Let Z be a fixed compact subset of R^1 and τ the time when the process η_x for the first time attains its (absolute) minimum on Z. Then τ is a splitting random time.

8.8. We say a few words about one more important model. Let T^+ be the set of non-negative two-dimensional vectors with natural partial ordering \leq and the Borel σ -algebra \mathcal{T}^+ . Let ξ_x , $x \in T^+$, be a random function on T^+ .

For $x = (x_1, x_2) \in T^+$ we put

$$M_{1}(x) = \{y \in T^{*}: \ 0 \leq y_{1} \leq x_{1}\}, \quad M_{2}(x) = \{y \in T^{*}: \ 0 \leq y_{2} \leq x_{2}\},$$
$$M_{3}(x) = \{y \in T^{*}: \ 0 \leq y \leq x\}, \ y = (y_{1}, \ y_{2}); \quad M_{i}(a, \ b) = M_{i}(b);$$

$$\mathcal{D}_{i}(a, b) = \sigma \{ \xi_{y}, y \in M_{i}(a, b) \}, \quad a \leq b, \quad a, b \in T^{*}.$$

The random functions ξ that are Markov in the sense of the model $\mathfrak{D} = \{\mathscr{D}_i(a, b)\}$ (for example, the "Brownian sheet") play an important role in the theory of stochastic integrals on the plane, see [18].

8.9. We make some comments concerning the bibliography.

Various versions of the strong Markov property of random fields on \mathbb{R}^d and on more general spaces have been studied in numerous papers [3], [10], [11], [23], [24], [45]-[48]. However, until recently the main attention has been paid to a version of this notion which is weaker than the one considered in this paper (it corresponds to the case $\alpha = \beta = \tau$ in the definition introduced in §6.4). In [10] and [11] a strong Markov property of this type was established for random domains satisfying condition (8.2). These random domains are direct analogues of stopping times (see [49]).⁽¹⁾

Conditional probabilities of events connected with realizations of the field outside a random domain τ of the form (8.2) were also investigated in [11], [21]. It became clear that these conditional probabilities are given by the same law as if the domain τ were deterministic. This result generalizes the theorem which says that the evolution of a ("good" enough) Markov process after a stopping time τ is controlled by the same transition function as if the moment τ were non-random. This property is quite often included in the definition of the strong Markov property of a stochastic process; see, for example, [2]. We note that for splitting random domains of general form this result is not true. It can be seen on very simple examples (the onedimensional case, a finite set of values of τ). The study of the strong Markov property of random domains more general than (8.2) was initiated in [23]. An analogue of this property for a fixed pair of domains $\alpha \subseteq \beta$ was investigated in [24]. Finally, the notion of the strong Markov property in the form given in this paper was introduced in [47], [48].

As regards applications of the strong Markov property of random fields, we mention [46], where results of the type of [11] were applied to asymptotic problems of mathematical statistics (limit theorems for empirical processes).

⁽¹⁾The analogues of stopping times for the partially ordered set $\{x \in \mathbb{R}^2 : x \ge 0\}$ were considered in [50], [51], and the references therein.

References

- [1] A.A. Yushkevich, On strong Markov processes, Teor. Veroyatnost. i Primenen. 2 (1957), 187-213. MR 22 # 6013.
 = Theory Probab. Appl. 2 (1957), 181-205.
- [2] E.B. Dynkin, *Markovskie protsessy*, Fizmatgiz, Moscow 1963. MR 33 # 1886. Translation: Markov processes, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York 1965. MR 33 # 1887.
- Yu.A. Rozanov, Markovskie sluchainye polya, Nauka, Moscow 1981. MR 84k:60074a. Translation: Markov random fields, Springer-Verlag, Berlin-Heidelberg-New York 1982. MR 84k:60074b.
- [4] E. Nelson, Construction of quantum fields from Markoff fields, J. Funct. Anal. 12 (1973), 97-112. MR 49 # 8555.
- [5] B. Simon, The $P(\varphi)_2$ model of Euclidean (quantum) field theory, Princeton Series in Physics, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 1974. MR 58 # 8968. Translation: Model' $P(\varphi)_2$ evklidovoi kvantovoi teorii polya, Mir, Moscow 1976.
- [6] H.P. McKean, Jr., Brownian motion with a several-dimensional time, Teor. Veroyatnost. i Primenen. 8 (1963), 357-378. MR 28 # 641.
 = Theory Probab. Appl. 8 (1963), 335-354.
- [7] G.M. Molchan, Characterization of Gaussian fields with a Markov property, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 197 (1971), 784-787. MR 45 # 6076.
 = Soviet Math. Dokl. 12 (1971), 563-567.
- [8] S. Kusuoka, Markov fields and local operators, J. Fac. Sci. Univ. Tokyo Sect. 1A Math. 26:2 (1979), 199-212. MR 81h:60070.
- [9] C.J. Preston, Gibbs states on countable sets, Cambridge Univ. Press, London-New York 1974. MR 57 # 14194a.
 Translation: Gibbsovskie sostayaniya na schetnykh mnozhestvakh, Mir, Moscow 1977. MR 57 # 14194b.
- [10] I.V. Evstigneev, The space 2^X and Markov fields, Dokl. Akad. Nauk. SSSR 230 (1976), 22-25. MR 54 # 14166.
 - = Soviet Math. Dokl. 17 (1976), 1237-1241.
- [11] ———, "Markov times" for random fields, Teor. Veroyatnost. i Primenen. 22 (1977), 575-581. MR 57 # 1635.
 = Theory Probab. Appl. 22 (1977), 563-569.
- [12] D. Williams, Decomposing the Brownian path, Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. 76 (1970), 871-873. MR 41 # 2777.
- [13] M. Jacobsen, Splitting times for Markov processes and a generalized Markov property for diffusions, Z. Wahrsch. Verw. Gebiete 30 (1974), 27-44.
 MR 51 # 11670.
- [14] ——— and J.W. Pitman, Birth, death and conditioning of Markov chains, Ann. Probab. 5 (1977), 430-450. MR 56 # 3949.
- [15] A.O. Pittenger, Time changes of Markov chains, Stochastic Processes Appl. 13 (1982), 189-200. MR 84a:60081.
- [16] J. Frölich, Lectures on the Yang-Mills theory, in: Recent developments in gauge theories (Cargèse summer school 1979), Plenum Press, New York-London 1980.
- [17] E. Seiler, Gauge theories as a problem of constructive quantum field theory and statistical mechanics, Lecture Notes in Physics 159 (1982).
- [18] R. Cairoli and J.B. Walsh, Stochastic integrals in the plane, Acta Math. 134 (1975), 111-183. MR 54 # 8857.

47

- [19] I.V. Girsanov, On transforming a certain class of stochastic processes by absolutely continuous substitution of measures, Teor. Veroyatnost. i Primenen. 5 (1960), 314-330. MR 24 # A2986.
 - = Theory Probab. Appl. 5 (1960), 285-301.
- [20] V.A. Volkonskii, Construction of non-homogenous Markov processes by means of a random substitution of time, Teor. Veroyatnost. i Primenen. 6 (1961), 47-56.
 MR 24 # A2441.
 - = Theory Probab. Appl. 6 (1961), 42-51.
- [21] S.E. Kuznetsov, Specifications and a stopping theorem for random fields, Teor. Veroyatnost. i Primenen. 29 (1984), 65-78. Zbl. 532 # 60047.
 = Theory Probab. Appl. 29 (1984), 66-78.
- [22] V.L. Levin, Functionally closed preorders and strong stochastic domination, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 283 (1985), 30-34. MR 87a:06005.
 = Soviet Math. Dokl. 32 (1985), 22-26.
- [23] I.V. Evstigneev, Random sets in Markov field theory, in: Selected problems of probability theory, Izdat. TsEMI Akad. Nauk SSSR, Moscow 1977, 114-118.
- [24] and A.I. Ovseevich, "Splitting times" for random fields, Teor. Veroyatnost.
 i Primenen. 23 (1978), 433-438. MR 81h:60069.
 = Theory Probab. Appl. 23 (1978), 415-419.
- [25] D.H. Wagner, Survey of measurable selection theorems, SIAM J. Control Optim. 15 (1977), 859-903. MR 58 # 6137.
- [26] V.I. Arkin and I.V. Evstigneev, Veroyatnostnye modeli upravleniya (Probabilistic models of control), Nauka, Moscow 1979. MR 81f:90029.
- [27] K. Kuratowski, Topology, Vols. I-II, Academic Press, New York-London 1966, 1968. MR 36 # 840, 41 # 4467.
 Translation: *Topologiya*, Vols. I-II, Mir, Moscow 1966, 1969. MR 36 # 839, 41 # 4468.
- [28] Yu.A. Rozanov, On the theory of homogenous random fields, Mat. Sb. 103 (1977), 3-23. MR 57 # 4320.
 = Math. USSR-Sb. 103 (1977), 1-18.
- [29] V. Mandrekar, Germ-field Markov property for multiparameter processes, Lecture Notes in Math. 511 (1976), 78-85. MR 55 # 13555.
- [30] R.T. Rockafellar, Measurable dependence of convex sets and functions on parameters, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 28 (1969), 4-25. MR 40 # 288.
- [31] L.D. Pitt, A Markov property for Gaussian processes with a multidimensional parameter, Arch. Rational Mech. Anal. 43 (1971), 367-391. MR 49 # 1571.
- [32] G. Matheron, Random sets and integral geometry, Wiley, New York-London-Sydney 1975. MR 52 # 6828.
 - Translation: Sluchainye mnozhestva i integral'naya geometriya, Mir, Moscow 1978.
- [33] E. Wong, Homogeneous Gauss-Markov fields, Ann. Math. Statist. 40 (1969), 1625-1634. MR 41 # 7753.
- [34] E. Nelson, The free Markov field, J. Funct. Anal. 12 (1973), 211-227.
 MR 49 # 9556.
- [35] R.L. Dobrushin and R.A. Minlos, A study of the properties of generalized Gaussian random fields, in: Problems in mechanics and mathematical physics, Nauka, Moscow 1976, 117-165. MR 57 # 4318.
- [36] B.S. Tsirel'son, A geometric approach to maximum likelihood estimation for an infinite-dimensional Gaussian location. I, Teor. Veroyatnost. i Primenen. 27 (1982), 388-395. MR 83i:62150.
 Theory Probab. Appl. 27 (1982). 411, 418
 - = Theory Probab. Appl. 27 (1982), 411-418.

- [37] R.M. Dudley, The size of compact subsets of Hilbert space and continuity of Gaussian processes, J. Funct. Anal. 1 (1967), 290-330. MR 36 # 3405.
- [38] V.N. Sudakov, Gaussian measures, Cauchy measures and *e*-entropy, Dokl. Akad. Nauk SSSR 185 (1969), 51-53. MR 40 # 303.
 = Soviet Math. Dokl. 10 (1969), 310-313.
- [39] V.M. Tikhomirov, *Nekotorye voprosy teorii priblizhenii* (Some problems of approximation theory), Moscow State Univ., Moscow 1976. MR 58 # 6822.
- [40] W. Philipp and W. Stout, Almost sure invariance principles for partial sums of weakly dependent random variables, Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 161 (1975).
 MR 55 # 6570.
- [41] L. Cesari, Surface area, Princeton Univ. Press, Princeton, NJ, 1956. MR 17-596.
- [42] H. Federer, Geometric measure theory, Springer-Verlag, New York 1969. MR 41 # 1976.
- [43] E.B. Dynkin, Additive functionals of several time-reversible Markov processes, J. Funct. Anal. 42 (1981), 64-101. MR 82i:60124.
- [44] Yu.L. Daletskii and N.D. Tsvintarnaya, Diffusion random functions of multidimensional time, Ukrain. Mat. Zh. 34 (1982), 20-24. MR 83e:60056.
 = Ukrainian Math. J. 34 (1982), 17-19.
- [45] R.L. Wolpert, A strong Markov property for multiparameter processes, Preprint, Duke University, Durham, NC, 1978.
- [46] R.M. Dudley, Empirical and Poisson processes on classes of sets or functions too large for central limit theorems, Z. Wahrsch. Verw. Gebiete 61 (1982), 355-368. MR 84b:60038.
- [47] I.V. Evstigneev, Extremal problems and the strict Markov property of stochastic fields, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 37:5 (1982), 183-184. MR 84k:60070.
 = Russian Math. Surveys 37:5 (1982), 168-169.
- [48] ——, The strong Markov property and splitting elements for random fields on a partially ordered set, Teor. Veroyatnost. i Primenen. 28 (1983), 801-802.
 = Theory Probab. Appl. 28 (1983), 836-838.
- [49] A.N. Shiryaev, Veroyatnost', Nauka, Moscow 1980. MR 82d:60002.
 Translation: Probability, Springer-Verlag, New York-Berlin 1984. MR 85a:60007.
- [50] R. Cairoli and J.B. Walsh, Regions d'arrêt, localisations et prolongements de martingales, Z. Wahrsch. Verw. Gebiete 44 (1978), 279-306. MR 80k:60063.
- [51] A.A. Gushchin, On the general theory of random fields on the plane, Uspekhi Mat. Nauk 37:6 (1982), 53-74. MR 84d:60073.
 = Russian Math. Surveys 37:6 (1982), 55-80.

Translated by M. Capinski

Central Institute of Mathematical Economics, Academy of Sciences, USSR

Received by the Editors 21 March 1986